

Pulsonix Design System V12.5 Update Notes

Copyright Notice

Copyright © WestDev Ltd. 2000-2023 Pulsonix is a Trademark of WestDev Ltd. All rights reserved. E&OE

Copyright in the whole and every part of this software and manual belongs to WestDev Ltd. and may not be used, sold, transferred, copied or reproduced in whole or in part in any manner or in any media to any person, without the prior written consent of WestDev Ltd. If you use this manual, you do so at your own risk and on the understanding that neither WestDev Ltd. nor associated companies shall be liable for any loss or damage of any kind.

WestDev Ltd. does not warrant that the software package will function properly in every hardware software environment.

Although WestDev Ltd. has tested the software and reviewed the documentation, WestDev Ltd. makes no warranty or representation, either express or implied, with respect to this software or documentation, their quality, performance, merchantability, or fitness for a particular purpose. This software and documentation are licensed 'as is', and you the licensee, by making use thereof, are assuming the entire risk as to their quality and performance.

In no event will WestDev Ltd. be liable for direct, indirect, special, incidental, or consequential damage arising out of the use or inability to use the software or documentation, even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

WestDev Ltd. reserves the right to alter, modify, correct and upgrade our software programs and publications without notice and without incurring liability.

Microsoft, Windows and Windows NT are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. All other trademarks are acknowledged to their respective owners.

Pulsonix, a division of WestDev Ltd.

Printed in the UK Issue date: 02/11/23

Pulsonix

20 Miller Court Severn Drive Tewkesbury Glos GL20 8DN United Kingdom

Support Phone	+44 (0)1684 296 570
Sales Phone	+44 (0)1684 296 551
Email	sales@pulsonix.com
Web	www.pulsonix.com

Contents

N 12.5 UPDATE SUPPLEMENT	
nstalling the New Version of Pulsonix	
icensing	••••••
Jersion 12.5 Undate Notes	••••••
	••••••
VERSION 12.5	•••••
nteractive Graphics Enhancement	
echnology Changes	
Export/Import CSV of Additional Rules	
Suppressed Land Rules	
Suppressed Pads - Additional Drill Spacing	
Teardrop Rules by Layer and Area	
Thermal Rules by Layer and Area	
Unplated Drill to Drill Spacing	
Changes to Barcode Font	
New Font Type for QR Code Generation	
Force Everything Visible in Colours	
Layers - Allow Micro-via Stop Pad Either Side	
Spacing Rules – Mounting Hole Spacing Rule Type	
Area Keep In/Out Defined by Rules	
Area - Keep Exclusive	
Attribute Editor Changes	
Dialog Reorganisation	
Show Empty Columns	
CSV Hidden option	
Attribute Validation using Wildcards	
ear-Off Windows	
Aake Selected Items Visible in Cross-Probe Mode	
Dynamic Cross-Probe Mode	
Dynamic Cross-Probe Mode – Centre View On Probed Item	
ave/Load Partial Configuration Files	
Current Document Directory as a Folder	
folders - Include Subfolders	••••••
Jndo History and dropdown list	••••••
D Space Mouse Support in PCB and SCM Editors	
D Design Changes	••••••
3D Design Menu Changes	•••••
Dynamic Flexi Board Folding Overview	•••••
3D Flexi Board Folding Settings	••••••
Changes to Insert Board Origin	••••••
Insert Flex Bend Line	•••••
Comp/Via Keepout Areas in 3D Viewer	
Flex Bend Regions DRC	•••••
True Folded Board Status used in STEP Output	•••••
Changing STEP Colours No Longer Regenerated For 3D Viewer	••••••
Output STL File	

Updated 3D Viewer Functionality	
Use STEP Model as Enclosure	
Improved Performance for Position STEP Model Rotations	
Interactive Rotating Changes in Position STEP Model	40
STEP Model Alignment and Snap by Centre	40
New Trihedron Axis View Cube	
Additional Spotlight	43
3D Settings - Show Drill Holes for Enabled Items Only	44
Footprint Moves with Component	44
Find Bar Changes	
Find Unpoured Templates	44
Insert Text – Select Text Style	45
Highlight List from Design Selection	45
Insert Component - Find a Part by Schematic Symbol Name	
Parts Library	
Splitters added to Part Editor	
Edit Symbol available from Preview window	47
Connector Part – Different Symbol Name on Pins	
New Pin Types for Ancillary Pads and Mounting Holes	
Reload From Library - Match Gates by Pin Names in Schematics	51
Check for a Single Signal Refs in ERC in Schematics	
Unmatched Signal Refs in ERC in Schematics	
Insert Connector Pin - Copy Previous Pin option	
Change Mounting Hole to Pad	53
Change a Normal Part to a Connector	53
Inspector Bar Changes	54
Change Group Order dialog improvements	54
Block Groups in PCB Designs	55
Execute Hyperlink in Attributes grid	55
Component Bin Changes	
Show Pre-defined nets on Single Pin Items in the Bin	
Highlight Components on Marked Net in Bin	
Bin Filtering	
Bin Sorting	
Drag Out of Bin Ordering	
Bus Properties – Report button	
Rename Sub-net in PCB using Change Net	
Auto-Rename - change a Prefix or Suffix	60
Changes to Edit and Add Wire Functionality	60
Changes to Apply Vias option	61
Wire Defaults – Line Angle	
Bitmap Scaling Changes	
Mirror Vertically	63
Apply layout pattern	63
Copy Copper With Template	
Remove Peripheral Items	
Cut Shape	
Improved wave Shape Generation	
Construction Line Changes	
New Construction Line Shapes	
New Non-infinite Construction Line option	
Change Shape to Construction Line	
Clip Construction Lines	
East Snape Using Construction Lines	

Add Construction Line Along Segment(s)	74
Set Tangent Angle	75
Snap to Construction Line - Vias	75
Named Construction Lines	76
Divide Circle by an odd number	76
CAM Plot Changes	77
Plot Transformations in CAM Plot Preview	77
Splitter Control in CAM Plot Preview	78
Gerber Plot File Extensions	79
PDF Plot - Zoom on a Clickable Link	79
PDF Plot - Customise Drilled-Out Pad Line Width	79
DXF Output – Save settings	80
GenCAD Output	80
Multi-Threading use for Processing GenCAD Files	80
GenCAD Settings Saved	80
GenCAD Dialog Rearranged	81
Select Output by Layer or Layer Class	81
Output Board Level Mounting Holes Class	82
Output Current (or Named) Variant	82
Panel Editor	82
Interaction Options	82
Apply Tab-Rout to All Instances	83
Double Row Mouse Bites	83
Intelligent Gerber Import – New Data Type - Placement CSV	84
Generate Component Dialog improvements	85
PDC Database Bar – Splitter Controls Added.	
Variants	
Doc Shanes	
Multiple Select Fitted/Not Fitted Components	
Vault Changes	
Underlying Vault Technology Changes	87
Undated OBBC Driver	
Indated Vault Setup ODBC Drivers	88
Undated Vault Postgres Server to V14 5	90
Vault Database Undate	90
Vault Column Sorting	93
Sign Out from Vault	93
Changing Vault Column Order	94
Splitter Controls in Browser Window	
Generic' Files with Vault	95
Transfer Library Data to Vault – New Data Types	96
Find Components by Ecotorint or Symbol in Vault Speed-up	90
Show Attributes from Vault Browser	97
Filter Canability Added to the Check Out from Vault Dialog	08
Evenue Attribute Hyperlink	98
Check-Out / Conv_Out Vault item using the Vault Toolbar Preselects The Item	00 00
Import I ibraries to Vault	00 00
PI M Command File Interface for the new Import Vault Libraries ontion	100
Vault Attribute Colours	100
I ibrary ToolKit Changes	101
Report Maker Changes	101
Network License Server Manager	10/
Disconnect All Clients	104
Disconnect All Clients via Configuration File	104
Disconneed An Chemis via Conniguration File	104

Scripting Changes	
Progress Indicator on Taskbar Icon	
Dynamic Design Verify Improvements	
Enable Dynamic Verify	
Memory Dumps	

Version 12.5 Update Supplement

Installing the New Version of Pulsonix

It is always recommended you back-up all libraries, designs, technology files, profile files and report files before installing the latest version. Other than for any technical reason, this is good working practice, although you should already have a backup of this data!

To install Pulsonix, double-click on the download executable and wait for a short time. You may have been supplied a CD, in which case insert it and wait for it to run. The *Autorun* facility will start the installation procedure. Follow the on-screen commands from the install wizard. You can install Pulsonix 12.5 over your existing V12.0 installation. If upgrading from V12.0, you can install it alongside the older version if you prefer. In any case, you do not need to uninstall the old version first unless you wish to remove it from your hard drive.

64-bit Installation Folder

By default, Pulsonix V12.5 will be installed into the programs folder C:\Program Files\Pulsonix12.5 rather than C:\Program Files (X86) which is where the 32-bit applications are installed.

Documentation Installation

The default installation locates all Pulsonix 'documents' (Master Libraries, Technology files etc.) is under user\documents\Pulsonix12.5 rather than being placed in public documents\PulsonixXX

Licensing

Version 12.5 requires a new license if you are a new user or upgrading from any older version of Pulsonix earlier than and including V12.0. The new license would have been supplied to you under the terms of your maintenance contract.

For existing users upgrading from a previous version, it is recommended that you save the new license in the same location as the current one but make a backup copy first or rename it. When requested during installation, simply click the **No Change In Licensing** check box on the licensing page of the installation wizard. The **License Manager** can be used to add new licenses and make changes to network licensing after the installation has been completed.

Version 12.5 Update Notes

The Version 12.5 Update Notes are available in the Pulsonix product installation folder under \documents. Alternatively, select the direct link within the product itself: Help menu | Online Manuals> Pulsonix V12.5 Updates Notes. You can also find them on the Pulsonix web site. The set of notes on the web site will be more up-to-date than the installed version as we are constantly updating these.

The current and all previous Update Notes are available on the Pulsonix web site under **Documentation**.

New In Version 12.5

Interactive Graphics Enhancement

An enhancement to the new fast graphics package introduced at V11.0 and V12.0 has been added for V12.5 for interactive (dynamic) functions, such as Component Select/Move, Text Select/Move etc.

There is a new switch in **Options**, **Display** called **Use for Dynamic Items**. When selected, this will enable any dynamic item, such as when editing a track or moving a component or text, to be redrawn using the enhanced GPU graphics.

🔳 Options – Display			—		×
Design Backups Display Edit Shape Edit Track File Extensions Find General In-Place Names	Fast Redraw ☑ Schematic ☑ PCB ☑ Draw in Layer Order ☑ Draw Current Layer On <u>Top</u> ☑ Dim Other Layers ☑ All Dim in One Colour	Hardware Acceleration Low Use for Dynamic Items	High	Reset	
Interaction		Draw Dunamic Text Origin			

Technology Changes

Export/Import CSV of Additional Rules

New Export CSV and Import CSV buttons have been added to the Technology dialog for: Spacings Design Level, Spacings Net Class Level, Spacings Match Pair Level, Rules High Speed Differential Pairs and Nets Signal Paths.

In addition, the **Export CSV** and **Import CSV** buttons have been added in a **Panel Design** to the **Technology** dialog to the **Spacing Design Level Panel** tab.

Existing button on **Spacings Net Class Level (Import CSV**) has been renamed to **Custom CSV Import** to allow for the new Export/Import CSV functionality.

Note, the existing **Custom CSV** option is very specific to particular customer data for import. This import allows field customisation. For general CSV import, use the new **Import CSV** option. There is no equivalent Export CSV function for this option.

Having this functionality allows the additional rules to be exported to a template and then imported to create the rules/data once edited.

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.8944.

Suppressed Land Rules

Suppressed Lands are now defined by rules, instead of being defined on the layer. Use the new **Suppress Land Rules** page under **Technology** and **Rules DFM/DFT**

	Attribute							Applies	То		Supprese
Enable	Name	Match Value	Side	Layer	Area	Through Hole Pad	Via	Micro-via	Through Mounting	Inner Only	Land
	<net name=""></net>	Gnd	Inner			$\mathbf{\mathbf{\nabla}}$	$\mathbf{\nabla}$	\sim	$\mathbf{\mathbf{\nabla}}$	\leq	\searrow
	Attribute: Match: On Layers	Net Name> iND Inner				Sup Inne	opress 🔽 er Only 🖵	2 App D1 V V V	ly To: hrough Hole P ñas 4icro-vias 4iount Holes	ad	

This page offers more flexibility in that a rule can be defined for an **Attribute**, including **Net Names**, and for **Layers** and **Areas**.

There is also a separate option to override the land suppression when on the **Inner Only** (not top or bottom) layers of the span.

Suppressed Pads - Additional Drill Spacing

Within the **Technology** dialog under **Design Level Spacings** and the **Pad** tab, there is an additional rule **Additional Drill Spacing.** This can be used to determine if a pad can be suppressed when adjacent to copper on the same net. This spacing is the minimum distance between the drill hole and copper on the same net, before the pad will be suppressed. When set, this is used to provide an additional spacing (over the drill to copper), before the pad is considered suppressed.

bard Bond And Die Pad	Component	Copper	Drill	Pad	Text	Track	Enclosures	
Minimum Pad Land			Sup	pressed P	ads			
Pad Type: Through Ho	le Pad	\sim	Addi	tional Drill	Spacing	: (0.000	
 Radius Difference Radius Percentage Absolute Area 		'heck sup Ise suppre	pressed pa	oads as ti d spacing	hough pad is there I shape	e i i i		

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

Teardrop Rules by Layer and Area

Under **Technology**, **Rules DFM/DFT** and **Teardrops**, you can now define **Teardrop** rules for **Layers** and within a named **Area**.



Thermal Rules by Layer and Area

Under Technology, Rules DFM/DFT and Thermal, you can now define Thermal rules for Layers and within a named Area.

Attribute: <pre> </pre> <pre> </pre>		Number Of Spokes: 4 🛓
Match: * V		Minimum Spokes: 2 🖨
	Connect Type: Themal Pad V	Try Alternative Rotation:
Applies To: Any ~	Enclosed Pads Only:	Rotate With Pad:
Min Pad Size: 0.000 \checkmark		First Spoke Angle:
On Layers: Side: or		0.00
Layer:	Orthogonal Spokes: 🗌 🚽 🦊 🗡	Spoke Style: 0.127
Within Areas:	Isolation Gap: 0.254	<thermal relief="" spokes=""> \lor</thermal>

Unplated Drill to Drill Spacing

Under **Technology**, **Spacing Rules**, **Design Level** and **Drill**, an **Unplated** spacing has been added to the **Drill To Drill Space** rule. This is only applied between unplated drill holes (normal drill spacing is applied between plated and unplated holes). In particular, Back Drills are unplated.

Board	Bond An	id Die Pad	Component	Copper	Drill	Pad	Text	Track	Enclosures
D	rill to Drill Sp	ace		Mi	icro-via Dri	II Space			
	Minimum:	0.254000			Minimum:		C	.000000	
	Unplated:	0.254000			Stagger t	o Micro-	Via: (.000000	
Allow Coincident Holes			Stagger to Buried Via: 0.000000						
	√ Onl	y If Same S	ize		Allow	Stacked	Micro-Vi	as	
D	rill to Board	Space		Ba	ack Drill To	Copper	tems –		
	Minimum:	0.000000		1	Minimum:	0.000	0000		

Changes to Barcode Font

The Barcode font style has been changed to bring it inline with the font style used for QR codes.

Previously, the barcode barring and gaps were defined with the font style, as below:

Name:	Font		
Barcode	<barcode 2="" 5="" interleaved="" of=""></barcode>		~
Used:	<u>U</u> nderline		
Text Size Height: 3.000 ≑	Start Block Width: 4.500 ↓ End Block Width: 4.500 ↓	Narrow <u>B</u> ar Width: Narrow Gap:	0.300
	Inverted:	<u>Wi</u> de Bar Width: Wide Ga <u>p</u> :	0.680

Changes to the dialog mean that you now define the **Name**, the **Font** (using **<Special Font>**) and the **Special Font Type** from the list. You then use the **Manage** dialog to define the font parameters.

Name: Used: 🗹	- <u>F</u> ont	
Barcode	<special font=""> ~</special>	
Named by: Typed Rule Template		
Barcode Text Sizein Points Height: 2.98399 €	Special font type Barcode (Interleaved 2 of 5)	6.0000 mm

Any existing Barcode font types in your design or Technology file will be converted to this new style along with their parameters.

See below for a full description on using the new functionality.

New Font Type for QR Code Generation

In addition to the existing ability to add a QR code as a **bitmap**, you can now generate QR codes in Pulsonix using a new <Special Font> **Font style**. The advantage of this over a QR code bitmap is that the font can be added to electrical layers whereas a bitmap cannot be.

When adding a QR code using this new font, the QR code is generated by Pulsonix based on the text you enter.

The QR font must first be defined in the **Technology Text Styles** dialog using the new **<Special Font>** font style. Then select the **Special Font Type** to inform it which font to use (Barcode or QR Code).

Name: Used:	- <u>F</u> ont	
QR Code	<special font=""> ~</special>	renessa warren
Named by: Typed Rule Template		
QR Code	Second fast time	新教教教教教
Text Size in Points Height: 2.98399	QR Code (ECL: High) ~	10.0000 mm

The Manage button is used to define the style of the Barcode or QR Code.

_		
S	Special Font Parameters	Х
	Name: Barcode	~
	Iype: Barcode	\sim
	Parameters	
	Start Block Width: 4.500 🜩 Narrow Bar Width: 0.300 🜩	
	End Block Width: 4.500 🜩 Narrow Gap: 0.300 🜩	
	Block <u>G</u> ap: 0.000 🖨 <u>W</u> ide Bar Width: 0.680 🖨	
	Inverted: Wide Gap: 0.680	
	20.00000 mm	
	OK <u>N</u> ew <u>D</u> elete Cancel	

As before, the parameters are the same.



The dialog changes for defining a QR Code:

Special Font Parameters	×
Name: QR Code (ECL: High)	~
Parameters	
Error High V Inverted:	
Minimum Version: 1 Boost Error Correction:	
Maximum Version: 40	
Boundary Width: 4	
8.000 mm	
OK <u>N</u> ew <u>D</u> elete Cancel	

QR codes can be used to encode alphanumeric text. Their parameters include:

Error correction, determines the proportion of codewords in the QR code that can be damaged for the QR to still be readable. This will effect the size (version) of the generated QR code.

Low - 7% Medium - 15% Quartile - 25% High - 30%

Minimum & Maximum Version The QR standard supports 40 versions based on their size. e.g. version 1 QR codes are 21x21, version 2 are 25x25 etc.

Boundary Width the width in squares surrounding the QR code.

Inverted is the QR code inverted.

Boost Error Correction improves the error correction of the QR code without increasing its version (size) if possible.

Using Special Fonts

Like existing Barcode fonts, QR fonts can be selected by name once the style name has been defined. QR codes work in the same way as Barcodes by using numbers, but also real web site URLs can be used such as <u>www.pulsonix.com</u>

Text Styles Dialog

If you use a Text Styles dialog, from Properties for example, or anywhere that you can change a text style, such as Change Style, you can select the new font <Special Font>. By selecting it, an additional combo box is displayed with preset parameters like Barcode (Interleaved 2 of 5), QR Code (ECL: High) etc.

Text Style	×
Name: QR Code ~	
Text Sizein Points Height: 1.2700 ♀	
Font	
<special font=""> ~</special>	
Special font type	
QR Code (ECL: High)	
Manage	
OK Cancel	

Force Everything Visible in Colours

Force Everything Visible

You can now force everything to be visible (Displayed), Selectable or True Width by selecting the **Force Everything** check box in the **Colours** dialog and **Others** page. This means you can use one of these settings for everything without disturbing any other colour settings you have set. This sets everything **except** Attribute Positions (see below).

spacing Rules	Name	Displayed	Selectable	True Width
Styles	Background			
🖶 ·· Layers	Bitmaps			
• Nets	Branch Point Name		<u> </u>	<u> </u>
🗄 🛛 Rules - DFM/DFT	Branch Point Origin			
• Rules - High Speed	Connections			
- Outputs	Coordinate Origin			
Naming	Drill Holes			
Colours	Net Name in Tracks			
Attributes	Pad Name Background			
- Attributes	Pad Name Text			
Back Drill	PCB Panel Origin			
Boards & Areas	Relative Coords Origin			
Component Rules	Spacing Shapes			
Differential Pairs	Symbol Origin		V	
Doc Shapes	Force Everything	\checkmark		
Elec Shapes				
Highlights				
avers				
cujers				

This switch is available in all editors in Pulsonix, including Schematic, Symbols, PCB, Footprint and Panel Editors.

Force Display Of Attribute Positions

This check box enables you to force your attribute positions on. This is independent of the **Force Everything** setting in the **Colours** - **Others** dialog.

✓ <last saved="" time=""> ✓ <last saved="" year=""> ✓ <last name=""> ✓ <layer name=""> ✓ <logic name=""> ✓ <maximum component="" height=""></maximum></logic></layer></last></last></last>	*			٨
✓ Display Attributes With No Value		Eorce Display Of Attribute Positions	(\

Layers - Allow Micro-via Stop Pad Either Side

A new check box on inner electrical layers, **Allow Micro-via Stop Pad Either Side**, allows you to create micro-vias onto the electrical layer from above or below, regardless of the facing value of this layer. You should only use this if you really know what you're doing and following consultation with your manufacturer.

Na <u>m</u> e:	Inner 2	Electrical Details:	
Used:		Routing Bias: Y	
<u>C</u> lass:	Electrical V	Power Plane N <u>e</u> t:	
	Type: Electrical Physical Copper Layer	~	
Layer	Association:	Construction Details:	Usually Plotted
Ca	n Have <u>A</u> ssociated Layers	Material: 🗸 🗸 🗸	✓ In Layer Stack Preview
٥To	p Facing Side: Inner V	New Material	
⊖Bo	attom Facing (Mirror Components)	Thickness: 0.0000	
Alle	w Normal Components Allow Buried Components	Embedding: None 🗸	
Allo	ow Micro-via Stop Pad Either Side		



Using this setup enables a layer span like this to be created where a Micro-via can be added as top facing but will span to a bottom facing layer.

Spacing Rules – Mounting Hole Spacing Rule Type

There is now an option to determine if an SMD Mounting Hole is treated as a Mounting Hole or an SMD Pad.

From within **Technology**, **Spacing Rules**, **Design Level** and **Pads** tab, there is new check box, **SMD Mounting Hole as SMD Pad**. Check this option to cause design rules checking to use the **SMD Pad** spacings for a **SMD Mounting Hole** (i.e. a mounting hole that is only on one side of the board and not drilled). Otherwise, an SMD Mounting Hole uses the spacings for a **Mounting Hole**.

Boa	rd	Bond And Die Pad	Component	Copper	Drill	Pad	Text	Track	Enclosures
	Minii Pac O	mum Pad Land d Type: Through Hi Radius Difference Radius Percentage Absolute Area	ole Pad 0.1250	~	Supp Addi	oressed I tional Dri heck sup lse suppi	Pads II Spacing opressed ressed pa	g: pads as t d spacing	0.0000 hough pad is there g shape
	Spa	cing Rule Types SMD Mounting Hole	as SMD Pad						

Area Keep In/Out Defined by Rules

Area Keep In/Out can now be defined by rules within the Technology under Rules, DFM/DFT, Area. This in addition to being explicitly defined on an Area.

The advantage of this mechanism is that you can define one rule that covers many Areas in your design, rather than creating individual rules on each Area, such as a named area within a footprint.

Attribute: <net name=""> ~</net>				
Match: HV 🗸	Keep In/Out			
On Layers	Track	Unrestricted ~	Testpoint	restricted \checkmark
	Via	Unrestricted \checkmark	Drill Unr	restricted \lor
Layer.	Micro Via	Unrestricted ~	Copper	restricted \lor
Within Areas:	Component	Unrestricted ~	Copper Pour Unr	restricted \checkmark
	Component Pad	Unrestricted ~	Power Plane Unr	restricted \checkmark
	Component Mount Hole	Unrestricted ~		

Additional new definitions are available for rules:

Keep Exclusive - the rule defines the matching areas as **Keep Out**, except for tracks or Vias on tracks which originate from a pad in the area. This rule type is only available for Tracks, Vias or Micro-vias

Lift Restrictions - the rule removes any Keep In or Out restrictions defined in Area Properties on the matching areas.

Unrestricted on a rule means no further restrictions (for that type of item). By default, areas have no restrictions, which would mean all restrictions are controlled by the rules.

Area - Keep Exclusive

For **Tracks** or **Vias**, you can define an area as **Keep Exclusive**. This keeps out **Tracks** or **Vias**, except for tracks or vias connected with a track which originates from a pad inside the area.

	Properties: Are	ea – Area			
	Segment Sha	ape Line Style	Area	Area Attributes	
	Name:	#		Desig	gn Extents
	Tracks	Unrestricted	\sim	Copper Ke	ep Out ⊡ Drill ∤
Ν	Vias	Unrestricted Keep In			
\Box	Testpoints	Keep Out Keep Exclusive		Mount Hole	Unrestricted
V	Component	Pads Unrestricte	d 🗸	-	
	Component	s Unrestricte	d ~	lf Higher Tha	n:

Attribute Editor Changes

Dialog Reorganisation

The **Edit Attribute** dialog has been slightly reorganised. The **Save Columns** button has been renamed to **Save** and the **Column Visib** button has been renamed to **Visibility**, and both buttons have been moved inside a **Column** group.

C15	SR301C105KAA	C/SR30	SR30	1uF		THOO
C16	SR301C105KAA	C/SR30	SR30	1uF		Colours
D1	L-7104SRD-J4	Diode/LED	LEDT-1	RED		Columns
D2	L-7104SRD-J4	Diode/LED	LEDT-1	RED		Coldmins
D3	1N4004		DIOD05		Diode	Save
J2	22-27-2021	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	Visibility
J3	1WP		HDR1		Connector/Header	violomy
J4	1WP		HDR1		Connector/Header	Show Empty
J5	22-27-2061	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	
J6	22-27-2031	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	LOV Tags
J7	22-27-2031	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	CSV Hidden
J8	D9FNM	Generic/D-Type	D9F90SilkCut		Connector/Generic-	-
	•	•		••••••		Export CSV
					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Import CSV
<					>	import Co V
						/

Show Empty Columns

A new check box has been added inside the **Column** group named **Show Empty**. Enabling this option will show all empty columns in the grid (provided they are enabled in the **Visibility** dialog), and disabling the option will hide empty columns.

This was backfitted to V12.0.

CSV Hidden option

The **Attribute Editor** now has an extra check box, **CSV Hidden**. Check this to have Export CSV to include all hidden columns in the output (this is how it worked prior to this option being added) and uncheck it to only output columns that are not hidden (this switch is checked by default).

C16	SR301C105KAA	C/SR30	SR30	1uF		Colours
D1	L-7104SRD-J4	Diode/LED	LEDT-1	RED		Columns
D2	L-7104SRD-J4	Diode/LED	LEDT-1	RED		Coldmins
D3	1N4004		DIOD05		Diode	Save
J2	22-27-2021	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	Visibility
J3	1WP		HDR1		Connector/Header	violonity
J4	1WP		HDR1		Connector/Header	Show Em
J5	22-27-2061	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	
J6	22-27-2031	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	
J7	22-27-2031	CONN/22-27-2	MOLEX 22-27-20		Connector/Header	CSV Hidd
J8	D9FNM	Generic/D-Type	D9F90SilkCut		Connector/Generic-	E
						Export CSV
L	_					Import CSV
<					>	

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

Attribute Validation using Wildcards

Matched String is no longer than a specified length

You can use %**14** (or other number than 4) to ensure that the remainder of the matched string is no longer than the number of characters specified (4 in this example). The letter 'L' must be **lower** case.

Matched String is exactly a specified length

You can use %L10 (or other number than 10) to ensure that the remainder of the matched string is exactly 4 characters long. The letter 'L' must be **upper** case.

As an example of using this new wildcard, you could define **%L10%il%#** which will ensure that the remainder of the string (in this case the integer) is exactly 10 characters long.

Tear-Off Windows

A new option is available in the **Options, Multi-Screen** settings that will enable **Tear-Off Windows**. A restart of the program is required to activate it once selected (or deselected).

-1		
\rightarrow	Enable Tear-Off Window Support	
7	Enable Multi-Screen Support	
	Windows for each type of design file	
	Window for SCM and PCB designs	Window for other file types
	C-swap ->	O Any Window
		Window #1
	Window#1 Window#2	O Window #2
	Other Settings	1
	Open all windows on application starte	ıp
	Exit in one window means Exit in all	
	System Information:	
	System has 2 monitors	^
	Generic PnP Monitor	

Tear-off windows are used as an alternative to Multi-screen and are capable of supporting more than two screens (unlike Multi-Screen which is only two screens). Once ripped off they can be positioned on any screen or along side the main Pulsonix window. You could have a set of schematic sheets in one screen and the PCB design in another and cross-probe between them for example.

Tearing off tabs

111

Once activated (in **Options, Multi-Screen**), tabs can be dragged off the window to create a torn off instance of Pulsonix which contains the tab. Simply drag the tab wish to have as another window. An additional benefit of this mode is that the exact order and locations of tabs/windows is saved when closing and reopening Pulsonix.

Drag off to create	<				
a new window	<u> </u>	ightspeed desig	×	Flexi3_12	ŗ

This can be done as many times as you want, so long as there is at least one tab in each window. The main frame Pulsonix window has toolbars and dock bars available.

To reinstate the tabs, simply pick and drag the external window by the tab and release it onto the main framework. During this time, the main window will turn blue to indicating the window can be re-docked:

		<		
		Flexi3_12 ×		
	<			
	High speed design V12.0 Test 🗙			
Sele	ct item(s). Use 'Shift+Click' to select whole	items and 'Ctrl+Click' to alter the selection.	Variant: GB	Mask: None Grid: Working 0.25

Once you are using the tear-off screen mode, you'll notice that the small 'windows' icons on the framework for Minimise, Full screen and Close are no longer available.

⊷ Pu	\rangle	-	×	
	V			
		14,		

The tear-off windows are sized as required so the only option really required is the Close button. This is now available on the workbook tab as an additional \mathbf{X} .



Additionally, tabs can be put into groups by dragging a tab to the edge of the screen where the scroll bars are located to create a new group. This is useful for putting designs side by side more easily.

With tabs docked in the main framework, if you right click on a tab, you can create new **Horizontal** and **Vertical Tab Groups** using the options available

n V12.0 Test 🗾 Flexi3_	Save	Ctrl+S	
select whole items and 'Ctrl	Close		
	New Horizonta New Vertical Ta	l Tab Group b Group	

Make Selected Items Visible in Cross-Probe Mode

There is a new setting on the **Options** dialog under **Interaction** and **Cross Probe** called **Make Selected Items Visible.**

Сору	Cross Probe
Copy Single Cutout As Shape	Bring Probed Design To Front
Botate	Probe Any Design
Botation Step: 45.0	Open Schematic Page
	Select Using Find Options
Power & Ground Pins	✓ Probe Synchronised Design
Auto Connect: Always 🗸 🗸	Make Selected Items Visible
	Online Cross Probe
Undo Undo Pan/Zoom	Centre View On Probed Item

When this option is checked, any selected items in the design (selected via cross-probe) will attempt to become visible and turn on their layer so they can be seen following the probe. The default is for this to be enabled (to always make visible).

With this option unchecked, layers will not be switched on (or redrawn) which is helpful for very large designs where one might not want layers toggling after a cross-probe.

Dynamic Cross-Probe Mode

There is a new setting on the **Options** dialog under **Interaction** and **Cross Probe** called **Online Cross Probe**. When selected, this will enable automatic Cross Probe while selecting items. All cross-probing then carried out will be in real time dynamically.

Сору	Cross Probe
Copy Single Cutout As Shape	Bring Probed Design To Front
Botate	✓ Probe Any Design
Rotation Step: 45.0	Open Schematic Page
<u>Hotaton Step</u> . 45.6	Select Using Find Options
Power & Ground Pins	✓ Probe Synchronised Design
Auto Connect: Always 🗸 🗸	☑ Make Selected Items Visible
	Online Cross Probe
Undo Undo Pan/Zoom	Centre View On Probed Item
	Curror Text

This also works in multi monitor mode and tear-off window mode.

Dynamic Cross-Probe Mode – Centre View On Probed Item

There is a new setting on the **Options** dialog under **Interaction** and **Cross Probe** under **Online Cross Probe** called **Centre View On Probed Item.** When enabled, selected items from an online cross-probe can be centred on the view in the other design to make it obvious where the selected item is.

Сору	Cross Probe
Copy Single Cutout As Shape	Bring Probed Design To Front
Rotate	Probe Any Design
Rotation Step: 45.0	Open Schematic Page
	Select Using Find Options
Power & Ground Pins	Probe Synchronised Design
Auto Connect: Always 🗸 🗸	Make Selected Items Visible
	Online Cross Probe
Undo Pan/Zoom	Centre View On Probed Item

Save/Load Partial Configuration Files

Underlying Technology

The underlying technology used to save/load the configuration file has been changed so the performance is greatly improved particularly when loading.

Old Configuration files will still read in but these will not utilise the new, faster mechanism.

Save Configuration

On selection of **Save Configuration** file (from the **File** menu), this option now displays a dialog allowing you to choose between a complete config file (all registry settings) and a partial file including only the registry branches relevant to a particular area of the application (folders, interaction, UI, etc.).

	■ Save Configuration ×
	Path: C:\Users\Documents\PulsonixPartial.cfn
	◯ Save all settings
	Save only these settings:
\neg	Folders
	File Extensions
	Backup Settings
	Drawing
	Interaction
	Plotting
	Recent Files
	Reports
	UI (menus, toolbars, etc.)
	Keyboard shortcuts
	OK Cancel

Load Configuration

On loading a complete config file you are prompted to confirm loading the file, and given the option to save a backup file for the current registry configuration before loading the one from the file. The loaded file will then replace (rather than "overlay") the entire PulsonixNN.N registry section.

Current Document Directory as a Folder

You can use a dot '.' as the base of a defined folder in any of the Folders dialogs to use the current document directory in place of the dot.

For example: .*\Libraries* or simply

These examples are both valid folders which are dynamically set.

As a working example, use this in the Libraries STEP Model Folders so that for the current design all 3D functions will collect the STEP models from the sub folder 'STEP Models' of the design folder.

Folders - Include Subfolders

New **Include Subfolders** check box in the folders dialog next to the **Folder Enabled** check box. When checked, this option will recursively search through all subfolders of the master folder and add any additional files found to the list. This should aid with organisation of libraries and folders.

Folders and Search Order:			
[Vault] Vibraries		Add	Up
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary		Edit	Down
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\MasterLibraries			
		Delete	Explore
N		Folder Enable	d
	$\rangle \mid$	Include Subfo	lders
V			
Files Found: 171			
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\Announcer\Libraries\DocSymbols.pdl	^	Pulsonix Part Libr	rary
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\0-9\3m.pal		2	
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\Actel.pal		am	
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibran\A-F\A\AD.pal C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibran\A-F\A\ADSP.pal		Enabled	Enable All
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\Altera.pal		Delete	Refresh
C-(Users/Public/Documents/Fulsonix/Recursive/Diran/A4_F\A\AlteraCyclone_pal			
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\AMP.pal		Move	New Library
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\Assmann.pal			
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\Atmel.pal		Copy	
C:\Users\Public\Documents\Pulsonix\RecursiveLibrary\A-F\A\Avago.pal			

Undo History and dropdown list

A new menu command has been added to the **Edit** menu called **Undo History**. Dropping this down will display a list which can be used to undo multiple levels in one action.



The list shows a <Current Position> which is used to more easily identify where in the undo stack you are.

The list can be used to Redo as well by clicking higher up the list after doing an undo.

3D Space Mouse Support in PCB and SCM Editors

Support for the 3D Connexion space mouse has been added to Pulsonix designs (in addition to existing use within the **3D Viewer** window). This will operate once the 3D Space mouse software has been installed on your PC.

It works for the pan functionality in the X and Y axis, and zoom for any native designs including Schematics, PCB, PCB Panels, Footprints and Symbols.

3D Design Changes

3D Design Menu Changes

There has been some reorganisation and rationalisation of menu options relating to 3D Design.

PCB Design Editor

In the **PCB Design Editor**, **the 3D Design** menu has been slightly reorganised to make it more logical and follow the order in which menu items are generally used. Also, the **Output STL** option now appears on the **3D Design** menu (see below). Other inclusions have been made to add the **Board 3D Origin** and **Bend Line** features.



3D Viewer

A **3D Design** menu has been added to the **3D Viewer** to rationalise existing relevant functionality into the one menu.

In the **3D Viewer**, the **Clash detection** options, **Fold Boards**, **Fold Flexi Boards**, **Align**, **Orient** and **Rotate** have been moved off the **Tools** menu and have been added to the new **3D Design** menu. **Write STEP** file has also been moved from the **File** menu to the **3D Design** menu.

The Measure option has been moved to the 3D Design menu (previously on the Tools menu).

The Data Transfer option has been removed from the File menu as it is not required.

Footprint Editor and PCB Doc Symbol Editor

The **3D Design** menu has been added to both the **Footprint Editor** and **PCB Doc Symbol Editor**. Menus in these editors contain relevant functionality.

Dynamic Flexi Board Folding Overview

Something to note before we discuss this feature is that board bending is not available when using **Exploded View**. If can only be used un-exploded.

Board Folding Design Preparation

Below is a summary of the procedures that are required in preparing your design for folding boards. More detailed information on this can be found in the **Online Help** under the **Index** heading **Board Bending in 3D Overview**.

Setting up Layers

You will need to ensure the correct **Layers** and **Layer Span** are in your design. An example of a simple Flexi-Rigid layer stack is in the '4 Layer Flexi-Rigid' technology include in the Pulsonix installation.

Net	Ne	Bias	Side	Class	Associated Layer	Name	
		None	Тор	Silkscreen	Silkscreen Top		Y
		х	Тор	Electrical		Тор	Y
		None	Тор	Solder Mask	Solder Mask Top		
		None	Тор	Paste Mask	Paste Mask Top		
		None	Inner	Non-Plot	Inner 2 - shape		
		X	Inner	Electrical		Inner 2	Y
	GND	Power Plane	Inner	Power		Ground	
		None	Inner	Assembly	Flexi Top Assembly		
		None	Inner	Non-Electrical	Flexi Top Documentation		Y
		None	Inner	Silkscreen	Flexi Top Silkscreen		Y
		None	Inner	Flexi		Flexi Top	Y
		None	Inner	Flexi		Flexi Bottom	Y
		None	Inner	Silkscreen	Flexi Bottom Silkscreen		Y
	+5V	Power Plane	Inner	Electrical		Power	
		Х	Inner	Electrical		Inner 7	
		None	Inner	Non-Plot	Inner 7 - shape		
		Y	Bottom	Electrical		Bottom	Y
		None	Bottom	Silkscreen	Silkscreen Bottom		
		None	Bottom	Solder Mask	Solder Mask Bottom		
		None	Bottom	Paste Mask	Paste Mask Bottom		
		None	Bottom	Non-Electrical	Pin Names (Bottom)		Y
		None		Documentatio		Documentation	
		None		Documentatio		Construction Lines	
		None None None None	Bottom Bottom	Paste Mask Non-Electrical Documentatio Documentatio	Paste Mask Bottom Pin Names (Bottom)	Documentation Construction Lines	Y

Inner electrical layers will need to be created for the flexi span, shown below and named as Flexi layers (Flexi Top and Flexi Bottom), along with supporting documentation layers if required.

	Name	From Layer	To Layer	Туре
Y	<through hole=""></through>	<top side=""></top>	<bottom side=""></bottom>	Through Hole
Υ	Flexi layers	<flexi top=""></flexi>	<flexi bottom=""></flexi>	Buried
Υ	Top to Flexi Top	<top side=""></top>	<flexi top=""></flexi>	Micro-via - top facing
Υ	Top to Inner2	<top side=""></top>	<inner 2=""></inner>	Micro-via - top facing

Adding Boards and Board Types

Create your required boards with the flexi board intersecting other boards so they are connected to each other. Change the Layer Span of the flexi board to be on your flexi layer span. For example (shown below with the green outlines being board and red as flexi board):



Flexi board folding works by looking at the relationship between board types, and calculates the fold and affected transformations dependent on this. Therefore, the board types need to be initially set up correctly using **Board Properties**. There are three board types in Pulsonix:

Rigid Fixed – a board that is fixed in position and will not be folded or transformed.

Rigid Moving – a board that will move based on folding flexi boards, but will not folded.

Flex – a board that will be folded, and can also be transformed based on other folding flexi boards.

For a flexi board to be folded, it must be attached to a Rigid Fixed board (either directly, or attached to a moving board which is attached to a flexi board which is attached to a fixed board etc.), and can optionally be attached to one or more Rigid Moving boards. Attaching to multiple Rigid fixed boards may produce unexpected results. (Note. By 'attached' it is meant that the two boards are intersecting in the PCB view).

To change the **Board Type** of an inserted board, select the board(s) and click **Properties** on the context menu, and go to the **Board** tab.

Adding Bend Lines

Bend lines are used to define the section of a flexi board that will be folded. A bend line is a single segment that cuts through the flexi board, accompanied by two other lines (called the **Affected Area**) offset from the main line. These two lines show the extents of the fold area, and their position are dependent on the Angle and Radius values that are you can define on the bend line.

To add a bend line, click on a flexi board, right click to open the context menu, and click the Insert Bend Line option (this option is not available on rigid fixed and rigid moving boards). To start adding the bend line, click outside the board and draw the segment so that it slices through the board, and end the segment outside the board. The result should look something like this:



Bend Line Properties

The bend region is defined using an Angle and Radius.

The **Angle** defines the angle at which the bend region will be folded - labelled as **theta** in the diagram below.

The **Radius** is defined as the distance away from the bend region that the centre point of the bend is located – labelled as \mathbf{r} in the diagram below. The radius can be positive or negative, a positive value will fold the bend region in the positive Z direction, and a negative value will fold in the negative Z direction.



Altering the Angle and Radius will change the size of the bend region; which can be seeing visually when the offset bend lines move position, or numerically by looking at the **Affected Area Width** in **Board Bend Line Properties**. This denotes the current width of the bend region.



After setting up the Bending Angle and Radius, your design should look something like this:

3D Settings for Flexi Board Folding

There is a **Flexi Board Folding** section on the **3D Settings Interaction** page accessed via the **3D Design** menu. This defines how the folding will behave and its use of animation. (See the section below for more details).

י ביוסט כומsh Markers □ Always Show Nearest Clash Point	
Flexi Board Folding	
Show Animation	
Animation Precision	
1	1
	I.

Applying the Fold in the 3D Viewer

Once the boards are set up correctly in the PCB, you can enter the 3D Viewer.

To perform the fold, use the **Fold Flexi Boards** option on the **3D Design** menu. Using this option when flexi boards are already folded will unfold them using the same animation options applied in **3D Settings**.

The Fold Flexi Boards option can be used alongside the Fold Board option.

When folding, if the bend radius is outside of boards, a Folding Clash error will be reported.

Illegal Items

Some items are not allowed in bend regions. This will be shown in the **3D Viewer** with a **Bend Region Clash** label being shown and the offending objects highlighted in red. If there are clashes, that specific fold will not be performed, but all others will be. Items not allowed in bend regions include:

Components

Boards

Other items may also not be allowed by your manufacturing process, such as Vias.

Design Rules Checking

Design Rules Checking has a new category, **Flexi Bend Regions**, under the **Manufacturing** section. (see below under **Flex Bend Regions DRC** for more details.

3D Flexi Board Folding Settings

3D Settings Interaction Dialog

The **3D Settings Interaction** page has been reorganised and there is now a **Flexi Board Folding** section. Generating the shapes required for folding flexi boards is done when launching **3D Viewer**, which can take a long time. The **Flexi Board Folding** check box allows you to disable (or enable) flexi folding which will skip the shape generation and save time (which is useful if you want to generate the **3D Viewer** but not actually do any folding).

If disabled, you will not be able to fold. The shapes required to fold are calculated during the initial generation of the 3D view, which can take a long time. If it is not required for the user then they can disable it to save time.

Aways Show Nearest Clash Point	
✓ Flexi Board Folding	
Show Animation	
Animation Precision	
1	1
	1

The **Show Animation** check box lets you toggle whether or not the folding of the flexi board should be animated or not. This is used in conjunction with the Animation Precision step slider and lets you fine tune how many steps should be in the animation (the more steps, the smoother the animation, but it will take longer to generate).

Animation Precision uses a slider that moves from 1-3. Animation Precision at level 1 will have the smallest load time but the animation will be less smooth and at 3 it will have the longest load time but smoothest animation.

3D Settings Settings Additional Settings – Flexi Bend Regions

A new check box has been added to the **Advanced Settings** section on the **3D Settings Settings** page. Enabling **Flex Bend Regions** will cause the regions to be shown in the **3D Viewer**, and disabling the check box will hide them.

3D View Setting	s					
Settings Colou	rs Interaction	Enclosures	View	Output		
<u>B</u> oard Thickne	ss: 0.120					
<u>M</u> ounting [rill Holes	N	o Compo	nents		
✓ <u>A</u> dvanced	Settings (these a	are likely to in	crease g	eneration	time and file size)	
✓ Pads	<u>V</u> ias	Doc	Shapes		<u>A</u> reas	
✓ <u>T</u> racks	Copper	Text			Comp Areas	
<mark>∕ Drill <u>H</u>ol</mark>	es	Flexi	i Bend R	egions		
						- I V

Changes to Insert Board Origin

The original **Insert Board Origin** is now called **Insert Board 3D Origin**. This option have been added to the **3D Design** menu.

This option (using it's new name) is still available on the context menu when a board is selected.

This option is still used for annotating plain PCBs on top of each other (that is, non-flexi boards). If the board is a flexi, use the **Insert Flex Bend Line** option instead. The former is a simple quick method of transforming boards.

When using this option, you will only require **Board Names** and **Board Type** (to designate the static and moving portions of the design).

Insert Flex Bend Line

The is a new **Insert Flex Bend Line** option. This is used when your design has flexi boards within it. It is not used when there are two 'normal' boards that which to be transposed, in this instance, you will use Insert Board 3D Origin.

The Insert Flex Bend Line option is available on the context menu when a board is selected.

The **Insert Flex Bend Line** option overrides **Insert Board 3D Origin** if there are placement conflicts. Board names are only used for the Insert Board 3D Origin option and are not required for Flexi boards.

Using this option

You would only have one **Rigid Fixed** board in the design, all other boards move in relation to this one.

Board outlines in Properties needs to be type, Flex or Rigid Moving and on the correct span layer.

Flex denotes the actual flexi portion of the board, whereas, **Rigid Moving** indicates that this board will move.

To move the board, define it as Flex Moving:

Properties: B	oard – Board	I		—	×
Segment Shape	Line Style	Board	Board Attributes		
Name: F	ex				
Board Type: F	igid Moving				~

The Layer Span for the Shape will be your layer span already defined in the Layer Span page of your Technology.

Properties:	oard – Shape			×
	•			
Segment Shap	E Line Style Board Board A	ttributes		
Layer Span:	Flexi layers		~	
✓ <u>C</u> losed	Filled] <u>L</u> ocked	
Hatched				

Defining the Flex Bend Line

When using the **Insert Flex Bend Line** option (for a selected Board), it must span and reach outside of flex board outline. The line must pass the centreline but a warning is issued if it doesn't meet the criteria.

Self intersecting bend lines are also not allowed and can only intersect 2 area outlines. Multiple bend lines are allowed but care must be taken to ensure their Affected Areas do not overlap.

The image below shows an illegal bend line as it intersects more than two board outline shapes of the same board.



Bend Line Properties

The **Bend Line Properties** dialog for a selected bend line enables you to define the folded boards' angle (**Bending Angle**) and the curve **Radius**.

Bending Angle:	90.0
Radius:	2.0000
Affected Area Width:	3.141593

The Bending Angle will be final position as an angle relative to the fixed board.

The **Radius** of the bend, (direction + up - down).

The **Affected Area Width** is calculated from the Bending Angle and Radius, and is shown in the design. Bend lines know where the nearest Fixed board is and do not allow the Affected Area to be inside this fixed board. The Affected Area will be the **Flex Bend Region** once in the design.

Flex Bend Line Bend Regions

Once defined, in the design, the flex bend lines show the region that will be affected when the bend is applied, this is shown as a translucent region (the same colour as the Bend Line).



Copy/paste Bend Lines

You can also copy and paste Bend Lines. As bend lines require a board to function correctly, you are unable to paste a copied bend line if you have nothing currently selected. If you have a bend line selected when pasting, it will copy the values of the bend angle and bend radius to the newly pasted bend line, and it will be linked to the same board that the currently selected bend line is linked to. If you have a board currently selected, pasting a bend line will link the new bend line to that board, but will not copy any angle or radius values.

Bend Regions shown in the 3D Viewer

Flexi bend regions are visible in the **3D Viewer** as seen in the picture below in yellow. The bend region is shown as a wireframe outline of the region of the board that will be folded.



The colour is defaulted to yellow, but can be changed on the **3D Settings Colours** page, in the **Board** section, by changing the **Flexi Bend Regions** colour combo.

Colours		
Board		
	Dark Green 🛛 🗸 🗸 Board (substra	te)
	Goldenrod 🛛 🗸 Board (flexi)	
	Transparency	
	Transparent Opaque	
	Reset	

The bend regions are not output when using the **Output STEP file** and **Output STL** options but the fold status is (folded or unfolded).

Comp/Via Keepout Areas in 3D Viewer

Component and Via Keepout Areas are can now be shown in the 3D Viewer.

The area shape displayed in the **3D Viewer** will be a 2D shape wireframe if the area is on a single layer (and without a component height restriction), and if the area is on a span, the area shape will

cover that entire span. If the area has a component height restriction, then the area shape height will be altered to account for this.

Below is an example of two areas and a component. The closer area is on layer <Flexi1> with max comp height of 0.5mm, and the further area is on layer Flexi-span with max comp height of 1.2mm (the height of that component is 1.1mm).



Areas can be enabled/disabled in **3D Settings** and the **Settings** page under **Additional Settings** section, by toggling the **Area** check box.

3D View Settings		
Settings Colours Interaction	Enclosures View Output	ıt
Board Thickness: 0.120		
<u>M</u> ounting Drill Holes	No Components	
✓ <u>A</u> dvanced Settings (these and the set and the s	are likely to increase generation	on time and file size)
✓ Pads Vias	Doc Shapes	Areas
<u> T</u> racks <u>C</u> opper	Text	Comp Areas
✓ Drill <u>H</u> oles	Flexi Bend Regions	1

An Area colour selection has also been added to **3D Settings Colours** page, which has a default colour of **Dark Red**.



Areas are not output when using the Output STEP or Output STL file options.

Flex Bend Regions DRC

Flex Bend Regions DRC

A Flex Bend Regions check has been added to the Manufacturing section of Design Rules Checking. When run, if errors are found, this will report an error code FB. This uses the area that is recognised as the Affected Area calculated from the Bend Line and Radius and reported in Board Bend Line Properties.

Running this will check for anything that will cause issues with Flex Board Folding in the **3D** Viewer, and should be run before using the **3D** Viewer.

Design Rule Check				×
Spacing	Manufacturing	✓ Nets	✓ Testpoints	
Back Drill	Acid Traps	Adjacent Nets	Centre to Centre	
Board	Bond Wire Length	Connection Length	Min Points Per Net	
Components	Component Name	Connection Vias	Pad Size	
Copper	Copper Shapes	Copper Neck Width	Under Component	
Drills	Copper Sliver	Creepage	Unreachable Side	
Mount Holes	Copper Text On Board	Differential Pairs		
✓ Pads	Drill Backoff	Loop Antennae	On Grid	
Split Planes	Footprint Rules	Necked Track		
Test Points	Flex Bend Regions	Net Connectivity		
✓ Text	Incorrect Back Drills	Power Planes	Tads	
✓ Tracks	Isolated Copper	Parallel Track		

This DRC check looks for the following potential issues:

Flex bend lines without a bend region. This could report errors where the defined Angle or Radius is zero, or because the bend region is too large for the section of board where the bend line currently is. If this is the case when the 3D Viewer is launched, this bend will be ignored.

Flex bend regions intersecting with other flex bend regions. Two regions intersecting will cause one region to bend but not the other when in the 3D Viewer.

Flex bend regions intersecting with boards. If the region intersects with a board, then it will cause an illegal bend, and so will be ignored.

Flexi board folding works by folding flexi boards and transforming Rigid Moving boards around a single Rigid Fixed board. If another rigid fixed board exists in the collection of boards being folded, then it will cause unintended folding (as the fold direction is determined by its relative position in comparison to the fixed board). The check will look for multiple fixed boards in a collection of boards.

Flex Bend Region Area Keep Out DRC

Flex Bend Regions are checked when using the **Component Keep Out** and **Via Keep Out** checks in DRC. This means that if **Components** or **Vias** are inside Flex Bend Regions, an error code will be shown (Cm-A for Components, V-A for Vias).



These errors are also flagged when using **Online DRC**, when dropping a Component or Via inside a bend region an error message will appear.

True Folded Board Status used in STEP Output

Folded boards in their actual fold status (folded and unfolded) are now output when using the **Output STEP** option. This is the case for boards folded using the **Fold Boards** option on the **Tools** menu in the **3D Viewer**, and for folded flexi boards using the **Fold Flexi Boards** option.

Changing STEP Colours No Longer Regenerated For 3D Viewer

When in the **3D Viewer**, changing colours and transparency on the **3D Settings Colours** page will no longer need to regenerate the entire 3D view.

This is not available when using Exploded View.

Output STL File

The **Output STL** file export has been added to the PCB design **3D Design** menu. This will output the current PCB into STL format. This is an alternative format instead of STEP for use with MCAD systems that support it, such as SolidWorks. It is also one of the most common file formats for 3D printers. This capability allows you to 3D print the populated board as a single item. This could be useful for physical visualisation, mockup, and prototyping.

Output STL				×
<u>S</u> TL Filename:	C:\Users\Document	s\Examples\announce	r.stl	Browse 3D Settings
	Output	Preview	Cancel	

The STL format is a 3D output that only outputs a single shape, and so uses the **Single Entity Merge** functionality to regenerate and merge the entire PCB design into a single shape. Using the Single Entity Merge switch means the colour of the STL file is neutral and cannot be changed. The resultant file will be in the region of approximately 50% smaller than the file created when outputting to STEP.

The merged items are then output to the STL file, and then the **3D Viewer** will regenerate to show the non-merged items. If the single entity merge option is enabled when outputting STL, no regeneration is required.


Output As A Single Merged Entity

You can now opt to output STEP as a single entity using the **Single Entity Merge** check box on the **3D Settings**, **Output page**. This will also be available when running the **3D Viewer** inside Pulsonix.

Checking the **Single Entity Merge** check box merges the entire 3D data shapes and components into one single entity contained 'inside' an assembly so that it can be imported into other software as one shape.

Settings Colour	rs Interaction Enclose	ures View	Dutput	
- <u>F</u> older For Ou	itput Files:			
Design Fold	der ·	~		
				. •
				Browse
			_	
Single Entity	y Merge			
	11			

The major difference is that the 3D representation of the PCB shown in the **3D Viewer** now shows the merged shape, which can then be output with a reduced STEP file size. However, as the shape in the **3D Viewer** is a single entity, interactive options will no longer affect the shape, and all colours associated with the shape are removed. The removal of colour is a common feature also found in other 3D packages that can export single entity designs, such as FreeCAD.

By default, the <Design Name> is used for the internal entity but you can also specify your own attribute name. Use the **Use Attribute Name** box if you wish to specifically name the shape output to the STEP file. This could be the <Current Variant> attribute for example.

Using this feature can greatly reduce the loading time in SolidWorks.



This feature was back-fitted to V12.0

Updated 3D Viewer Functionality

Functionality has been updated in the 3D Viewer, the changes include:

Zooming

Zooming in/out using the mouse wheel now zooms towards the position of the cursor. You can still use the shortcuts Z and U or the **Zoom In** and **Zoom Out** options on the **View** menu to zoom in and out as before.

Rotation Axis

When performing camera actions such as rotating and panning, a small '+' will appear at the origin point of this camera transformation. This means you can visually see the point at which the camera is rotating around.



Extended Design Rotation

As it has been, using the standard right click rotates in an orbit around the centre point of the design, (and now also indicated by the new rotation axis, see above). Now you can use Ctrl right click, or shift right click which rotates the view centred at your position (as if the camera is your head and you are looking around). This enables you extra precision within the positioning movement if you require a very specific view to be captures for an image for example.

Use STEP Model as Enclosure

A new <STEP Enclosure> attribute has been added which can be added to a component.

	Properties: Component: U2 – Comp Attributes		×
<u> </u>	Component Nets on Pins Comp Attributes Vault		
$\lfloor \rangle$	<pre>STEP Enclosure>=</pre>	<u>N</u> ew	
V	<pre>STEP Rotation>=270</pre>	<u>E</u> dit	
		<u>D</u> elete	

If a Component has this attribute (it doesn't need a value), the STEP model will be added as an enclosure in the 3D Viewer instead of being added as a Component/STEP model. This means that if enclosures are disabled in the 3D Viewer, these Components/STEP models won't be displayed.

When using this attribute, the enclosure colour and transparency will be used for these shapes as they are now considered Enclosures.

When viewing the **3D View Settings** dialog and **Enclosures** page, Components with the STEP Enclosure attribute assigned will be shown with the Component name next to each one in square brackets.

ttings Colours Interaction Enclosures View Output	
Enclosures:	
<pcb_shape.stp> [LP1] 05520916e_01.stp [A-COV4] 05526133_613_stp [A-COV1]</pcb_shape.stp>	Add
	Delete

Improved Performance for Position STEP Model Rotations

Rotating in the **Position STEP Model** dialog has been improved so that the view is no longer regenerated every time a new rotation is entered into one of the controls.

Inputting an X, Y or Z value into the controls will generate a new rotation transform, performing the rotation in Z first, then Y and finally X. Visually nothing will have changed, but there is a significant performance increase, especially on larger models.

Interactive Rotating Changes in Position STEP Model

In the **footprint editor** and **Position STEP Model** option, changes have been made to the interactive rotating when updating the X, Y and Z controls (using the axis that appears when selecting the STEP model). These changes improve the visibility of the model in relation to its initial state (based on how it was created) and the footprint it is being positioned on. The new axis now looks like this. Each axis movement is coloured and is interactive. It can be selected and moved to adjust the position of the model in the preview. The relative coordinates are then reflected in the numerical values in the dialog.



In summary, the changes made are:

The axis has been moved from the centre of the STEP model to the point that the model is being rotated around.

The axis itself now does not rotate when rotating the STEP model, keeping the X, Y and Z axes static.

Using Undo after interactive rotation now updates the X, Y and Z controls.

The trihedron axis is now static (it no longer rotates when rotating interactively).

STEP Model Alignment and Snap by Centre

When using the **STEP Model Alignment** feature **Snap by Centre** option in **Design Settings**, the model can be automatically rotated by 90 degrees in the Z axis to better fit the footprint. If this happens, it causes any rotations in the X axis to look like they are being applied to the Y axis, and vice versa. The trihedron axis is now rotated to show this. This means that a rotation in the Y will rotate about the trihedron's Y axis, which would be the world space's X axis. This option has been amended because previously, it wasn't obvious in this instance that the model had been rotated.

This image shows the model position using **Snap By Origin** before any positional or rotational corrections have been applied:



This image shows the model position using **Snap By Centre** using the same model. You can see that the model has been rotated by 90 degrees in the Z axis:



New Trihedron Axis View Cube

In the **3D Viewer** and **Position STEP Model Preview**, the trihedron axis in the lower left corner has been replaced with a **View Cube** (the cube also retains the trihedron axis arrows).



This is also available in the **Position STEP Model** preview:



The cube will rotate as the camera is rotated, and clicking on a face, edge or vertex of the cube will automatically rotate the camera to that orientation. Double clicking on the cube will spin the camera so that the board is the correct orientation.

3D View Settings		×
Settings Colours Interacti Spotlight Position X: 0.000 Y: 0.000 Z: 100.000 Reset	on Enclosures View Output Layers V Use Additional Spotlight Show Exploded View of Layer State X: 0.000 Y: 0.000 Z: 1100.000 Reset Gap For Exploded View:	ack .000 .025
View Projection Type Perspective Othographic	Show Trihedron View Cube Trihedron Position: Lower Left	

The display of the cube is switchable in the **3D Settings** dialog under the **View** tab. From this page, you can also define the **Position** of the cube in the preview window.

Additional Spotlight

In the **3D Settings** and **View** page, there is a new **Use Additional Spotlight** option that allows adding and defining of a second spotlight. The position of this spotlight is defaulted to $\{0,0,-100\}$ and will light up the bottom of the board, but can be moved using the X, Y and Z controls. Using the **Reset** button will reset the position back to $\{0,0,-100\}$.

3D Vi	iew Settings	×
	ings Colours Interaction Enclosures View Output Layers Spotlight Position X: 0.000 Y: 0.000 Z: 100.000 Reset View Projection Type ● Perspective Othographic View Cube Trihedron Position: Lower Left ✓	Layer Stack cness: 1.000 : 0.025 5.000

3D Settings – Show Drill Holes for Enabled Items Only

There is a new check box on **3D Settings** on the **Settings** page named **Only Enabled Items.** This option will allow you to only show drill holes for items that are enabled in the **Advanced** section.

3D View Settings		
Settings Colours Interaction	Enclosures View	Output
Board Thickness: 0.120		
<u>Mounting Drill Holes</u>	No Compon	ents
Advanced Settings (these ar	e likely to increase ge	neration time and file size)
✓ Pads Vias	Doc Shapes	Areas
✓ <u>T</u> racks <u>C</u> opper	Text	Comp Areas
✓ Drill <u>H</u> oles	✓ <u>Fl</u> exi Bend Reg	gions
Only Enabled Items		

For example, if you have this option enabled, and you have pads enabled but vias disabled, then drill holes will be created in the board shape for pads but not for vias. If you disable this new option then all drill holes will be added to the board, as before.

This was backfitted to V12.0.

Footprint Moves with Component

In the **3D Viewer**, after moving a Component its footprint will also be moved in the Preview. Note, the drill holes will not move without a full redraw.

Find Bar Changes

Find Unpoured Templates

You can now find unpoured templates from the Find bar using a special attribute filter.

Once Template has been chosen as the find item:

	Find (1 items	fou 🔻 🕈 🗙					
	¥ 🙌 🖸 🕯	- A A A					
	Template	~					
\neg	<no net=""></no>						
	<search entire<="" th=""><th>e design></th></search>	e design>					
	<no net=""></no>						
	D_GND VBAT						

Set the **Filter** to **Attribute** where a new special attribute of **<Unpoured Template>** is available in the selection list:

	Hide Filter << Apply
	Filter Names
	* ~
	Attribute:
	<unpoured template=""> ~</unpoured>
\neg	ls: matching V
	•
	Layer:
	Top 🗸

You can also set the criteria using the Is: statement and Layer:.

The results will be displayed for net named templates and templates without a name (shown as <No Net>). Unnamed templates will only show one entry for all templates but you can toggle through them using the Next and Back arrows at the top of the dialog.



This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

Insert Text – Select Text Style

On the **Insert Text** dialog there is now an option to select the **Text Style** before adding text to the design. This is not available for text callouts.

Insert Text	×
Layer Top	
Text Style: Attributes	
Layer: Silkscreen Top ~	
OK Cancel	

Highlight List from Design Selection

There is a new option on the **Find** context menu called **Highlight List from Design Selection**. Once selected, this will highlight items in the **Find** Bar list in context of the selection based on what you select in the design.



A couple of practical examples of where this may be used are if you were to select some capacitors in the design, then in the **Find** bar, have the find set to **Parts**. This means that the Find bar would now show you all the Part types used for the selected capacitors. This would be good for showing different Parts where you might expect to be using the same Parts.

Another example might be where the **Find** bar is set to **Net** and you select a Component in the design. The find bar will now show you all the net names attached to that Component.

Insert Component - Find a Part by Schematic Symbol Name

	N <u>u</u> mber	of pins is: Is				1	<u>S</u> ave
\rangle	Eprint:	Is V Is V	~	Contains	~	clock	Clea
/	Attrib:		~	Is			
	Attrib:		~	ls			Currer
	Attrib:		~	ls			Only
	CDC203D	(TI)					↑ Clos

From the **Insert Component** dialog, **Find** option, you can now match by the **schematic symbol name** using the **Sym** header.

Parts Library

Splitters added to Part Editor

Splitters have been added to Part Editor. These will enable you to control the size of the preview windows.

Vulsonix - [Part: 0	:\Users\Documer	nts\Pulso	nix \MasterLib	raries\Xilin	x4.pal: XCS30-3TQ1	[44C]				<u></u>		Х
on Eile Edit ⊻ie	w Insert Setur	o <u>T</u> ools ₹	<u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp					12.5.9429 64-bit Unicode Edition	22-Jun-2	3 09:05 _	8 >
Part Name: XCS30: Description: IC FPG/ Part Family: XC/XCS Name Stem: U Pin Count: 144 Footprints: 144-TQ Spice Type: Vault	3TQ144C 4.5V C-TEMP 144-TC 330 Change FP	QFP		FP Ch Edit	GA ((†	•)					
Туре	Name	Vault ID	Item ID	Revision	Vault Timestam	9	90.000 mm	t				
Part	XCS30-3TQ144C		Not from Vault					<u> </u>				
Footprint	144-TQFP		Not from Vault						U1			
Schematic Symbol	xcs30-4tq144c_A		Not from Vault									
Schematic Symbol	xcs30-4tq144c_B		Not from Vault							1		

Edit Symbol available from Preview window

From the **Parts** tab of the **Library Manager**, on each of the two previews (SCM Symbol and PCB Footprint), if you right click over the symbol, from the context menu, you can select **Edit Symbol / Footprint In Library**. If the Part has multiple Schematic Symbols, they will each open in a different tab.

From the context menu in the preview, you can also reset the view of the preview windows using the **View Extents** option.



Connector Part – Different Symbol Name on Pins

When editing a **Connector Part** in the **Parts Library** (**Pins** page), you now have an additional column named **Symbol**.

Normally, the Symbol name will be the same for every connector pin on the Part. However, you can now change the symbol to make one or more pins different, for example, Pin 1.

Footprint Pin	print Pin Pin Name Net Name Pi		Pin Type	Pin Network	Pin Swap	Symbol
1	1		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
2	2		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
3	3		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
4	4		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
5	5		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
6	6		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
7	7		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
8	8		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P
9	9		<undefined></undefined>	<none></none>	0	1P

If you select the Symbol name for the pin you wish to change, you are now presented with the **Change Symbol** button.

'in Network	Pin Swap	Symbol
None>	0	1P 🗸
None>	0	1P
None>	0	Change Symbol
None>	0	1P

This displays the Change Symbol Name dialog which enables you to select the new symbol name.



Once used in the design, changing Pin 1 will look like this:



New Pin Types for Ancillary Pads and Mounting Holes

You can now define **Pin Types** of **Ancillary Pad** or **Mounting Hole** for use within a Part/Component.

When either of these new Pin Types are assign to Pins, they do not contribute to the Part Pin Count.

These may be useful for defining a pad on a footprint (an Ancillary Pad) that is a 'belly' pad for example, used for a thermal connection which would not be a normal Pad or a Mounting Hole. You may also use this new Pin Type for defining a Schematic pin on a Part that will be connected to with a Net and which appears on your Schematic design.

Ancillary Pad defines a pad which does not contribute to the overall Part Pin Count. In all other respects it is a normal Part Pin. It has a pin name, can appear on a schematic symbol, and requires a pad in the footprint. As mentioned above, this might be used to define a belly pad for example, used on a surface mount device with a thermal connection.

Mounting Hole defines a pad which does not contribute to the overall Part Pin Count.

Also, in a PCB design, it is treated like a Mounting Hole for Rule checking purposes. In all other respects it is a normal Part Pin. It has a Pin Name, can appear on a Schematic Symbol, and requires a pad in the footprint, (the footprint will therefore have more pads than the Part Pin Count). This means it can be shown on the Schematic Symbol and design also, and be connected to with a Net Name.

Schematic Pin Types

When editing a **Part** in the **Parts Library** (**Pins** page), you now have two new **Pin Types** available: **Mounting Hole** or **Ancillary Pad.**

	Name	Туре	Allow on Block Port	<u>N</u> ew
Y	Output			
Y	Input			
	Bi-Directional			
	Open Collector			
	Or-Tieable			Delete
	Tri-State			
	Terminator			Delete <u>U</u> nused
Y	Power	Power		
Y	Ground	Ground		
	Open Emitter			
Y	No Connect	No Connect		
	Passive			
	Pcb Connect	Pcb Connect		Only Show
	Mounting Hole	Mounting Hole		Used Entries
	Ancillary Pad	Ancillary Pad		

Using this Pin Type

Once the Pin Types are defined, they can be assigned to a pin in the Part Editor.

Pin	Pin Name	Net Name	Pin Type	Pin Network	
1	1		No Connect	<none></none>	HMC519LC4TR-2
2	2	GND	Ground	<none></none>	
3	3		Input	<none></none>	
4	4	GND	Ground	<none></none>	24123 2212, 20119
5	5		No Connect	<none></none>	
6	6		No Connect	<none></none>	
7	7		No Connect	<none></none>	
8	8		No Connect	<none></none>	
9	9		No Connect	<none></none>	5 N/C N
10	10		No Connect	<none></none>	
11	11		No Connect	<none></none>	
12	12		No Connect	<none></none>	1/ 18 19 11011112
13	13		No Connect	<none></none>	600.0 thou
14	14		No Connect	<none></none>	
15	15	GND	Ground	<none></none>	
16	16		Output	<none></none>	
17	17	GND	Ground	<none></none>	
18	18		No Connect	<none></none>	
19	19	Vdd3	Power	<none></none>	
20	20		No Connect	<none></none>	0
21	21	Vdd2	Power	<none></none>	
22	22		No Connect	<none></none>	
23	23	Vdd1	Power	<none></none>	25
24	24		No Connect	<none></none>	
25	25	GND	Ancillary Pad	<none></none>	

The net name can be assigned optionally too as well as the Pin Type.

Pad Numbers on a Part

When using the special **Pin Types** of **Ancillary Pin** or **Mounting Hole**, the pad number reported will be different to that defined on the footprint. In this situation, the **Pin Count** changes and the dialog is updated.

	Part Name:	HMC519LC4TR-2]
	Description:	IC AMP VSAT 18GHZ-31GHZ 24CSMT]
	Part Family:	HMC519LC4TR LNA]
N	Name Stem:	U	FPGA
\Box	Pad Count:	25 Change Part Pin Count: 24	
/	Footprints:	QFN50P400X400X102-25N-2 ~	Choose

The **Pad Count** changes to reflect the actual number of pads defined. An additional **Part Pin Count** now displays the count, excluding any pins marked as one of these special types.

Pin Types on Pin Properties

When the Part is used in the design with one of these pins defined, Mounting Hole, in the example below, the **Pin Type Properties** shows its Pin Type as Mounting Hole.

	Properties:	: Pin: U2.1 – Pi	n		_		×
	Vau	ult		Net	Net	Attributes	
	Pin F	Pin Attributes	Test	Component	Nets on Pins	Comp Attribut	es
			Logic N	ame:			
U2 MH Part Pi	Physical Det Override	tails Position: 18500	0 20	500.0	Allow Interac	ctive Reposition	
~ 2		Angle: 270.0					
$\bigotimes_1 \times$		Pin Type: Mount	ting Hole				
×	□ ¬F	Pin Style Name: Cross	S				

Reload From Library - Match Gates by Pin Names in Schematics

There is a new option when using **Reload From Library** in a Schematic design called **Match gates by pin names**.

This will not normally be used but is available if you have imported a design using one of our import filters, such as Allegro, but the gates have been created in a different order from the library.

Only reload if <u>di</u> fferent version in the library/vault	Reload From:	
Reload control		
Keep <u>a</u> ttribute styles	Replace gate symbols with defaults	
Keep <u>a</u> ttribute positions	Keep pin position/style overrides	
Keep local attribute values	Update predefined nets on symbol pins	
Replace footprint with default	Match pins by position	
Replace <u>p</u> in networks	Match gates by pin names	$\langle _$
Re-apply name stem from part	Keep local pin types	
Match position of the first pad	Reload nets assigned to <u>u</u> ngated pins	

This option should only be used if you know you have multi-gate parts in the library where the gates are in a different order from the part in schematic design. For example, gate "a" in the design is pins 1 and 2 and gate "c" in the library is pins 1 &2. The reload will swap the gate modifiers so that pin 1 is still connected to the same net.

This was backfitted to V12.0.

Check for a Single Signal Refs in ERC in Schematics

When using the **Unfinished Nets** check in **Electrical Rules Check**, it now checks for a **single Signal References**. This means it will check for a second Signal Reference to join to and report an error if there is only one Signal Reference on that net.

🗹 Pin Type Rules	Unfinished Connections	🗹 Coincident Items On Different Nets
🗹 Mark Warnings	Unlabelled Nets	🗹 Split Nets
🗹 Busses	Unlabelled Net Pages	If Not Linked By Doc Symbol
🖂 Hierarchy	🗹 Bridged 2-Pin Components	Pins Not On A Net
🗹 Unfinished Nets	🗹 Unmatched Page Links	Net Pins With No Connection

Unmatched Signal Refs in ERC in Schematics

Electrical Rules Check has an additional option to find **Unmatched Signal Refs**. This was previously added as part of the Unfinished nets check, but has now been split into a separate option.

	Pin Type Rules	Unfinished Connections	Coincident Items On Different Nets
	Mark Warnings	Unlabelled Nets	Split Nets
	Busses	Unlabelled Net Pages	If Not Linked By Doc Symbol
	Hierarchy	Bridged 2-Pin Components	Pins Not On A Net
ĸ	Un <u>f</u> inished Nets	Unmatched Page Links	Net Pins With No Connection
\Box	Validate Attributes	Unmatched Signal Refs	Nets Only On Ungated Pins
V		Common Pins	

Insert Connector Pin - Copy Previous Pin option

The Insert Connector Pin feature now has an option on the dialog to Copy Previous Pin.

Insert Connector Pin		×
Look In: [All Libraries] Which Parts:	~	Add
Filter: * No. Pins Matched: 15406 of 68999	Appl <u>v</u>	Cancel
Part: 1-917738-5 {AMP}	~	Pins: 36 Find
Desc: CHAMP Connector	Fa	amily: 1-917
Eootprint: 917738-5	~	
Name: PL1	1 🖼 🎇	
Symbol: CONN ~	Pin: 1 🚔 🗛	Add to Comp Bin
⊻ault Revision:	1	Number of <u>C</u> opies: 1
Preview Schematic & PCB Attributes	Vault Cop	py Previous Pin

When selected, this copies the orientation and position of attributes from the previous pin on the current Component.

Change Mounting Hole to Pad

You can now convert a **Mounting Hole** to a **Pad**. This will mainly be used in **footprint editing** but can be used in the PCB Design editor.

Use this by selecting the **Mounting Hole** and from the context menu, selecting the **Mounting Hole to Pad** option:

	Add To Net	
8	Set Symbol Origin	
8	Set Coordinate Origin	
8	Set Symbol Origin At Centre Of Pa	ds
	Mounting Hole To Pad	
	Highlight Selection	
ت	Insert Attribute	Shift+A
-	Add To Favourites	
P	Properties	L

When using this in the footprint editor, the pad will take on the next Pad number in the sequence.

The pad will still use the same Pad Style but will now be a 'Pad' not a Mounting Hole. If the pad (as a Mounting hole) used Naming Rules, these rules will still be applied.

Change a Normal Part to a Connector

You can now change a normal Part to a Connector. From within the **Part Editor**, select **Change Part Type** from the **Edit** menu.

Change	e Part Type	×
<u>F</u> rom:	Normal Part	ОК
<u>T</u> o:	Connector \checkmark	Cancel

Once selected, this option will remove the **Schematic Symbol**(*s*), remove the **Gate** tab and change the **Part Type** to a **Connector**.

Inspector Bar Changes

Change Group Order dialog improvements

The **Change Group Order** dialog has been changed to use a grid instead of a check-box list for displaying group information.

Name	Visible	Height	Min Height	^	Up
Net	\sim				
Explore Net	\sim				Down
Component	\sim				
Line Style	\sim				Show All
Text Style	\sim				SHOW AI
Pad Style	\sim				Hide All
Component At	\sim	189	189		
Pad Attributes	\sim	189	189		
Symbol Attrib	\sim	189	189		Reset Order
Attributes	\checkmark	189	189		Popot Hojohte
Net Attributes		189	189	\sim	Reset Reignis

The grid contains four columns: **Name**, **Visible** (whether group is shown in the Inspector Bar), **Height** (the height that dialog-based groups should use, for example, Attributes group), and **Min Height** (the minimum height that the group can be resized to).

Not all Group Name Heights can be edited, but of the ones that can be, multiple group **Visible** and **Height** values can be changed at the same time. Do this by selecting a range and using the **Apply Height To Selected Cells** option from the context menu to apply a row value to the rest of the rows in the range.

Individual rows or a contiguous range of rows can be selected to allow multiple groups positions to be changed at the same time using the **Up** and **Down** buttons.

A **Reset Order** button has been added, this allows the group order to be reset to the default values.

A **Reset Heights** button has been added for a quicker way of resetting all group heights to the minimum (default) value.

Dragging to Create a Group Order

Dragging a selected row or range of rows using the mouse to another position in the grid can be used to change the group order quickly.

Pre-selection of a Group Row

Opening the Change Group Order dialog from the context menu after right clicking inside a group in the Inspector Bar will pre-select that group row in the grid to help locate it faster.

Persistent Group Heights

Group heights are stored in the registry so changes will persist between sessions.

Block Groups in PCB Designs

When a **block group** is created in the PCB design through either the **Translate to PCB** or **Synchronise Design** options, the group name will now include the block name in square brackets. For example "B1_ [CharacterLeds]".

This can be viewed in the PCB design within, Component Properties, Inspector Bar and Find etc.

Find (3 items found) ×				×
-(H	¥ 🙀	-	A 8 8	A.m
Group			`	~
Block_ADD1	[Half Adder]			٦
Block_ADD1	[Half Adder]			
Block_ADD2	[Half Adder]			
Block_ADD3	[Half Adder]			
Block_ADD4	[Half Adder]			
Block_Block	1 [Full Adder]			
Block_Block	2 [Full Adder]			
				- 11

Like before, these groups are only created for a block instance if the **Create PCB Group** check box is checked in **Block Properties**.

When running **Synchronise Designs**, the report will show you this additional information to be added to the PCB design.

What to do in V12.5 to use this feature

If you are using these groups in a design that was created in a version previous to V12.5, then be aware, you will now need to perform a **Synchronise Designs** to update the PCB design to change these group names to show the additional information.

If you don't update the PCB, the integrity will still be correct and match the Schematic but you will not see this additional Block Group information.

Execute Hyperlink in Attributes grid

In the Attributes group grids, hyperlink enabled attributes can now be executed by right clicking on the attribute value column and selecting 'Execute Hyperlink' on the context menu. As a visual indicator that an attribute value is a hyperlink the text will appear underlined and in a blue *link* colour.

Component Attrit	outes		
Name	Value	Visible	Source
<hyperlink></hyperlink>	https://www.xilinx.com		
Category	FPGA/CoolRunner		Part
Mfr	Xilinx		Part

Component Bin Changes

Show Pre-defined nets on Single Pin Items in the Bin

If a Component in the Bin has a single pin or pad then it will show the **Net Name** next to the pin name if it has one. Such as a multi-pin connector in Schematics or a testpoint in PCB.

Once in the Bin, the pre-defined Net Name (but no actual connected net) will be shown prefixed with [predef: *NetName*].

Component Bin	-	ф	×
PL1.2			
9.00 mm			
Connectors:			
PL1 [8] - D9F			
Pin 2 [predef: GND]			
Pin 3 [predef: CLK]			
Pin 4 [predef: VCC]			
Pin 5			
Pin 6			
Pin 7			
Pin 8			
Pin 9			

Highlight Components on Marked Net in Bin

If you mark a net (using **Mark Net**) in the design, any components in the bin also attached to that net will be highlighted with a small rectangle on the left of the item in the mark net colour.

¥ ^	Component Bin	▼ ₽ ×	Ä
		C30	Find
			₿ □
	10.000 mm		ayers
	C30 - 08051A471JATD	- DA	
	U13 - 80C52-N		

Bin Filtering

The Component Bin now has a **Filter** panel. This allows you to just show the components you are interested in at a particular time. You can filter by Name, or Component Attribute.

U13 - 87-0060-01	¥
Hide filter <<	
Filter Names Apply	
	\sim
Attribute:	
<3D Package>	\sim
ls:	\sim
	*

Bin Sorting

The Component Bin now has a **Sort Order** panel. This allows you to set up a sort order and set a list of attributes to sort the bin by. This is a persistent order that is shared between designs.

Hide sort order <<
<3D Package> V Add
<pre>^ <component name=""></component></pre>
Remove Up Down Reverse

Drag Out of Bin Ordering

When you drag multiple components out of the Component Bin, they are arranged in a horizontal line of columns (or a vertical line of rows) of Components. The columns are grouped by component type, and they appear in the order that they appear in the component bin.

New options for sorting and placing items has been added to the context menu.

You can use **Sort by '<Component Name>' in reverse order** to toggle the sorting within the component Bin. Previously, this was named **Toggle Bin Sort Order**.

To adjust the maximum width of the dragged rows (or columns in horizontal mode), right click on the Component Bin and then choose **Set Drag Out Row Width** from the context menu. Type a number into the dialog that appears to set the maximum row width (or respective column height).

Set the width of rows of components dragged				
10.0000	ОК			
	Cancel			
Remember previous value				

Bus Properties – Report button

In Schematics, for **Properties** of a **Bus**, on the **Bus** tab, there is now a **Report** button. This lists the name of the **Bus**, and each **net** attached to it.

Properties: Bus: ID[0:7] – Bus			×
agment Bus Bus Attributes			
<u>N</u> ame: ID[0:7]		<u>l</u> ocł	ked
Apply the style to all connected or same name busses	_		
Line <u>S</u> tyle: Bus ~	Owr	Colour	
<u>W</u> idth: 50.0 Length: 5025.0		.	
Allowed rvets: ID0 ID1 ID2 ID3 ID4 ID5 ID6 ID7	A Dp Rem	dd Nets move Net Dow ove All Ne Report	n
Allowed Nets Range:	L		
	٨	ahi Danaa	

A report will look like something the example below:

```
Bus ID[0:7]333: ID[0:7]
Net Count: 8
1: ID0
2: ID1
3: ID2
4: ID3
5: ID4
6: ID5
7: ID6
8: ID7
```

Rename Sub-net in PCB using Change Net

You can now rename a sub net in PCB when running in safe mode.

This feature is useful for where a Differential Pair of tracks, for example, have been partially routed in and their path is as required but the end pins need to be swapped.

However, the track path must not contain any additional pads and the tracks must not be routed at either ends. Differential Paired tracks with spurs (tracks plus vias) are acceptable though but the whole sub-net and spur must be selected.



To use this feature, select the first track segment (or track path using Shift-Select).

Right click and choose **Change Net** from the context menu:

Change Net X
Choose From All Nets In Design: Net Name: DQS_P ~
Net Class: Signal Net Type: Signal Change Name Of Sub Net Only
OK Cancel

You are able to select the **Change Name Of Sub Net Only** option when the track path follows the rules.

You must do this on both track paths to swap, during which, it will temporarily join the two nets. Once both have been swapped, **Optimise** Nets will reorganise the connections and now display them as swapped.



Auto-Rename - change a Prefix or Suffix

Auto Rename in both the Schematic and PCB design editors now allows you to add, remove or change a **prefix** or **suffix**.

Auto Renam	e		×
Which Items:	Component All Items Include Locked Items		
This Ster	n Only	By Location	
Stem: Rena Start / Pad With	C V me to: C At: 1 Zero 0	Side: Top Side ✓ Direction Left to Right ✓ then: Top to Bottom ✓ Greverse Left-Right on Bottom Side	
Prefix: From: To: Suffix: From: To: Keep	Name Numbers	Channel <u>Wi</u> dth: 2.500000	

You can specify a Prefix or Suffix and you can change these strings *From* the specified value *To* a different one.

For example, 'U1_ADD1' with Suffix from '_ADD1' to '_ADD2' would give 'U1_ADD2'.

When enabled, the **Keep Same Numbers** switch means only the Prefix and Suffix will be renamed and all other names and formatting will be preserved.

This was backfitted to V12.0.

Changes to Edit and Add Wire Functionality

Double clicking on a wire now allows you to edit it so that you can add multiple segments (with Mitres and Curves). This works the same as edit shape and can be used for editing a wire to create a shape. Previously, only a single segment wire was available; now the wire can be shaped to more accurately represent a physical wire that is placed on the manufactured PCB.



There are now new arc angle options in **Select Mode** (when you have a wire segment selected) and on the **Add Wire** context menus to change the angle of the lines' arc.

Once the segments have been added, there are additional options on the context menu when a Wire corner is selected:



Changes to Apply Vias option

The **Apply Vias** options on the **Utilities** menu has been renamed to **Apply Vias/Pads** to reflect the expanded functionality where it can now include **Pads**.

<u> </u>	Apply Vias/Pads		×
	Add Vias Where Placed	O Add Pads	
,	Around outside	On the shape	
	O Around inside	◯ Fill the shape	
	Net Name: \$0		~
	Via Span: <pre><through hole:<="" pre=""></through></pre>	>	~
	Style:		

When switching to **Add Pads**, the dialog changes, with **Net Name** and **Vis Span** being swapped for the pad **Layer** selection. Pads can only be placed on a named layer and not with a Through-hole selection.

Pads added will be Free Pads on a single electrical layer and will not be on a net, this is useful for creating a thieving pattern, for example. These options also work in a footprint design, where Component Vias will be added (you cannot add free pads to a footprint).

	Apply Vias/Pads		×
	O Add Vias	Add Pads	
	Around outside	◯ On the shape	
	O Around inside	◯ Fill the shape	
ĸ			
\Box	Layer: Top	~	
V	Style:		1
	Name: Round (56)	×	
	Width 1.4224	Shape: Round ~	

Wire Defaults – Line Angle

Wire Defaults in **Technology**, **Design Settings**, **Defaults** and **Wire** now has a new **Line Angle** setting. This lets you set the default arc angle a wire will have when you add it.



Bitmap Scaling Changes

Large Bitmap Scaling

Large bitmaps will now be scaled down during import to a size relative to the current zoom level on the design.

Bitmap Scaling From the Context Menu

Bitmaps can also be scaled from the context menu during the initial placement stage.

Preserve Attached Segments during edge dragging

Scaling a bitmap by dragging the edges now uses Preserve Attached Segments when enabled.

Bitmap Properties

The **Bitmap Properties** page **Scale** box now displays the scale in relation to the original size, and not the current size.

Mirror Vertically

There is now a **Mirror Vertically** command which is available from the context menu in **Select Mode**. The previous Mirror command has been renamed **Mirror Horizontally**.

In the illustration below, you can see how the two different mode perform.



RV1 is the original placement with RV2 Mirrored **Vertically**.

In this example, C1 is the original placement and C2 has been Mirrored **Horizontally**.

Apply layout pattern

Copy Copper With Template

A new option, **Copy Copper With Template**, has been added to the **Apply Layout Pattern** dialog. This is available when applying the pattern from a group. If a template is in this group, then enabling the option will now also copy the poured copper associated with it, even if the poured copper is not in the group.

	Apply Layout Pattern X
	Take Pattern From:
	O Selected Components
	⊖ Group: ✓
	Clipboard
	OPCB File: 3620AP.pcb ∨
	Folder: Browse
	Apply Pattem To:
	O All Components O Selected Components
	All Components In Bin Selected Components In Bin
	◯ Group: ✓ <u>M</u> ultiple
>	Apply To Components Only Try To Retain Current Position Copy Copper With Template Type Final Position Remove Peripheral Items

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0

Remove Peripheral Items

The **Remove Peripheral Items** check box has been added to **Apply Layout Pattern**. This option is only available when applying a pattern to a **group**.

When enabled, any peripheral items in the chosen group (Templates, Copper or Text) will be deleted before the pattern is applied. This is useful to avoid multiple copies of templates, copper or text when a pattern that contains these items is applied.

Apply Layout Pattern	\times
Take Pattern From:	
 Selected Components 	
O Group: Group1 ∨	
Clipboard	
O PCB File: 12vs12-5wavesAfter.pcb ∨	
Folder: Browse	
Apply Pattern To:	
O All Components O Selected Components	
O All Components In Bin O Selected Components In Bin	
 Apply To Components Only Try To Retain Current Position Copy Copper With Template Remove Peripheral Items	

This was backfitted to V12.0.

Cut Shape

You can now select Cut Shape from the Edit menu.

This takes a single or multiple selected shape(s) and cuts them with a line, the line thickness can be changed. The line can be given a width so that a gap is left between the resulting shapes.

Cut lines can both open and Closed. When a cutting cut is closed, this can be used for creating a shape within a shape; creating shapes that exist as 'islands' in a cutout of another shape can be useful for creating split power planes.

The cut line will avoid creating self-intersection shapes dynamically; finding the next best position for the end of the line that could potentially be reused elsewhere, for example, in Tracks.

The Cut Shape option can also cut open shapes (but only one at a time).

Context menu options

When setting the cut line, there are other options available on the context menu.

These are standard options but there are two to make note of :

Closed Shape - Select this option to make the resultant shape closed. This is useful for creating a shape within a shape.

Change Cut Shape Width - Available on all shape types. Use this to set the width of the line used to cut the shape, this determines the gap distance between the resulting shapes. If the width is set to zero (0), the resultant shapes will overlap on their centre (cut) lines.

Use Spacing - Available for electrical shapes (Copper, Templates etc.). Select this to use the **Design Spacing Rule** of the item being cut, for example Copper to Copper spacing. This spacing will be used instead of the **Cut Shape Width**.

The Cut Shape Line Width

There are three cut line 'widths' that can be used (as free widths or Spacings):

User defined as a shape width, This can be either zero size or a defined size. Zero width aligns the **centre lines** of the resultant shapes coincident on top of each other, or as a width, which creates a gap. The gap is also taken between the centre lines.

When using a Spacing rule width, the gap is taken between the edge of the shapes.

Use on Electrical Shapes

Cut shape also considers when shapes are on a net. When cutting a piece of copper or a template a prompt will ask for the net for the new shape to belong to, and this is confirmed after the cut – visually showing which shape will be on which net. The option will automatically use the correct spacing distance specified in the design rules to determine the gap between cut shapes. If multiple shapes are created, you will have an option to set the net of each one in turn.

After cutting, the option will check for DRC errors and notify you if there are any, with an option to undo/cancel the cut.

Using Cut Shape

Select the Cut Shape option and select the shape(s) to cut.



Optionally pre-select the shape(s) you wish to cut then select Cut Shape.



Click to start the cutting line, or drag and drop a straight cutting line.

Continue clicking to add vertices to the line, double-click to finish the line and make the cut.



The resulting shapes are left selected, this is ready for another cut if you wish.



Cutting an Electrical Shape

Add multiple normal shapes that will be converted into cutouts, move them inside the master shape and leave them selected.

Optionally pre-select the shapes you wish to cut. They must all belong to the same net.

Choose or type in the name of the net that the new shape will be.

Choose or create the net to place new sha	apes onto X
Choose From All Nets In Design:	
Net Name: A_GND	~
Net Class: <a>None>	~
Net Type: Signal V	
OK Cance	ł

Click to start the cutting line, or drag and drop a straight cutting line.

Continue clicking to add vertices to the line, double-click to finish and make the cut.

If the cut results in two shapes, you can confirm if the highlighted shape is the correct one to place on the new net and choose the other shape if not.



If the cut results in multiple shapes you will be prompted to add each new shape to a net in turn.

After cutting, the new shapes will be checked against the design rules, you will be notified if they cause an error.



The resultant shapes appear like this:



Improved Wave Shape Generation

The **Wave shape** generator has been changed to provide better accuracy at lower **Segments Per Period** settings.

A result of this change is that the number of **Segments Per Period** in the wave will now be a multiple of 4 (it will be rounded up to the nearest multiple of 4 if not).

If the number of segments is exactly 4 it will generate a triangle wave.

An extra field has been added to show you the **Actual Segments Per Period** based on the number of **Segments Per Period** typed.

	Style: Copper V	OK
	<u>W</u> idth: 15.0	Cancel
	Wave Dimensions	
	Length: 600.0 Phase: 50.0	
	<u>A</u> mplitude: 150.0 <u>P</u> eriods: 1.000000	
	Segments Per Period : 35 ≑	
_/	Actual Segments Per Period : 36	
	Net: <none> ~</none>	
	Layer: Top 🗸	

Construction Line Changes

New Construction Line Shapes

There are new Construction Line shapes available for Rectangle, Triangle, Polygon, and non-infinite lines. These appear on the construction Line menu and are discussed below.

	Alca	•	1	
	Template	•		
	Construction Line	•	-4	Infinite Line
	Merge		Q	Circle
Ъ	Cutout		\mathbf{Q}	Ellipse
A	Text	Shift+T	\sim	Spline
0	Component	Shift+C	¥	Wave
S 0	Component From Database			Rectangle
P	Connection			Triangle
_ °	Track		5	Polygon
P	Sketch Track			Line
#	Bus Route			
~	Spline Track			

New Non-infinite Construction Line option

Construction Lines can now be partial and not always infinite, for example, where three lines divide a circle. In this instance, the three lines meet in the centre of the circle but the lines extend outside the circle to infinity.



The other example is where both ends of the line are inside the design area, and neither end is outside of this to infinity.

New Line Options

The old Line option has been renamed to Infinite Line.

A new non-infinite Line option has been added to the menu and is called Line.



Change Shape to Construction Line

The **Change Shape Type** and **Replicate Shape As** options can now be used to change a shape to a **Construction Line**. This will convert the shape or line into non-infinite Construction Lines.

Old Type: Doc Shape OK New Type: Cancel Area Layer: Construction Line	Change Sha	аре Туре	×
New Type: Cancel Area Layer: Construction Line	Old Type:	Doc Shape	ОК
Area Layer: Construction Line	New Type:	~	Cancel
Copper	Layer:	Area Construction Line Copper	

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0 but only for circles, splines and ellipses. In V12.5, the full shape range is available

Clip Construction Lines

Clip Construction Line

There is a new option available on the **Edit** menu to **Clip Construction Line**. This allows you to clip any Construction Line using a box, so that the cut shape fits inside the box. This enables you to have non-infinite Construction Lines with a region. This declutters your screen if you have many Construction Lines defined and also helps you focus on one particular area.

The default mode uses a **box** to clip the lines. To clip between two lines select the **Clip With Lines** option on the context menu.

Clip with Lines

While in this mode, using the context menu, you can change to the **Clip with Lines** option which will clip the Construction Line to be between those lines (similar to cut track). This option only works on 'open' Construction Lines.

Cancel Clip Construction Line	
Clip With Lines	s

Using a Box to Clip

Use two left mouse clicks to define the start and end points of the clip box, or drag the cursor to draw the clip box.



The Construction Line(s) will be cut to fit inside the box.

Between Two Lines

Use two left mouse clicks to define the start and end points of the first cut line, or drag the cursor to define the cut line.



A second dynamic cut line will be displayed at the same angle and length as the first line for you to position with your cursor. You can use the Rotate option from the shortcut menu to rotate this line.



Drop the second cut line over the Construction Line(s) to cut them between the two cut lines, or drop the second line past the end of Construction Line(s) to cut them from the first cut line to their ends.
Note: This option will only work on 'open' Construction Lines.

Edit Shape Using Construction Lines

There is a new option for adding regions to or chopping regions out of a selected shape. With the shape selected, the option can be accessed from the context menu, **Edit Shape Using Construction Region.** This new mode works with Construction Lines with any sequence of straight or arc segments.



This means that one Construction Lines are added to and around shapes, the shape can be modified based on regions without having to manually select segments, move them and snap to the Construction Lines.

Once the **Edit Shape Using Construction Region** option is selected from the context menu of a selected shape, a selection region indicator is displayed. This will be either a solid shape to indicate the shape will be modified outwards, or a dotted region shape to indicate the shape will be modified inwards. If the shape can only be modified in one direction, then only the solid indicator is shown. Sometimes, regions can't be selected because they'd cause self-intersecting shapes.

Below are two examples, showing the two styles of region modification:







Add Construction Line Along Segment(s)

With a shape segment or segments selected, from the context menu, you can now add Construction Lines along these segments. This will add infinite lines along those selected segments. This option means you can quickly add multiple, and often complex, constructions lines to a shape from where you can modify the shape using other interactive features, such as **Edit Shape Using Construction Lines**.

Note, the shape can be curved as well as a straight line segment.





Set Tangent Angle

Using Enter Angle when adding a tangent sets the tangent angle, and finishes at that angle.

Enter Ar	ngle	×
Angle:	135	ОК
		Cancel

This enables you to place a line at an exact tangent angle required.



Snap to Construction Line - Vias

The option, Snap to Construction Lines has been added to the context menu when moving Vias.



Named Construction Lines

You can now name Construction Lines in their **Properties**. These names can be made visible by ticking the check box. With this, Construction Lines have been added to the **Find bar** so you can locate them.

	Propert	ies: Construction Line – Shape			×
	Shape				
	<u>N</u> ame:	Divided Circle (3)	<u>L</u> ocked		
\neg	Type:	Circle			
	Position:	-39.5000 51.8500			

Divide Circle by an odd number

You can now use Construction Lines (Infinite Line) to divide circles by an odd number, like 3 or 5, this will create semi-infinite lines (infinite in one direction).



CAM Plot Changes

Plot Transformations in CAM Plot Preview

The **Plot Preview** page has been changed so that where multiple layers are defined using the **Add To Plot** option, they can be individually transformed in the **Preview** window.

Where multiple plots have been defined using the **Add To Plot** option, the currently selected plot will be highlighted in organge. The original plot that the others are based off will be shown in black.

E Gener	ate Plot – Plo	ot Preview			— 🗆 X
CAM Plots	Plot Setting	as Drill Sizes Plot F	Preview		
	T.D.C.			Preview Design	Position of plot/output on paper/table
Outputs	To Be Genera	ated			
Fits	Enabled	Plot Name	Process ^		
Yes		Тор	Layer Top		
			Layer Silkscreen Top		
			Layer Bottom		
			Layer Drill Drawing		
No		Ground	Layer Ground		
No		Inner 3	Layer Inner 3		
No		Inner 4	Layer Inner 4		
No		inner 5	Layer inner 5		
No		Inner 6	Layer Inner 6		
No		Inner 7	Layer Inner 7		
No		Inner 8	Layer Inner 8		
No		Power	Layer Power		
No		Bottom	Layer Bottom		
No		Silkscreen Top	Layer Silkscreen Top		
No		Paste Mask Top	Layer Paste Mask Top		
Plot:	Тор	F	its: Yes		
To:	PDF	V	Vidth: 8887.0thou	12 JUL - 2 V	
Style:	Artwork		leight: 8512.0thou		
			Position: V V		
			Usuon. N.T	이 이 바람이 많은 것이 같은 것이 같아.	
Scale:	1.000		NAR V. 0.0		
Manual				그는 것 같은 것 같은 사람이 많이 싶다.	
wintored		5	shift Y: -5000.0		
Rotated	: 🔲 🛛				
-Plott	ng Area —		6		
Width:	8887.0thou	Registr	ration Point: Auto Shift		
Height:	8512.0thou			100.000 mm	
thou		Reset		Run Close	e Apply Help

Any transformation performed is given relative to the Plotting Area Registration Point.

The transformation is given relative to the **Plotting Area Registration Point** (hence the Shift X & Y will be different values to those specified on the **CAM Plots** page, which give the registration point relative to the design origin.)

The **Reset** button at the bottom of this dialog is used to cancel any pending edits.

Fields can be edited to transform the position of individual plots (where more than one has been defined using the **Add To Plot** option). You can edit the **Scale**, **Mirrored**, **Rotated**, **Shift X & Shift Y** values on this dialog. Equivalent values will be set on the original plot where multiple plots are defined.

Plot: Top	Fits: Yes
To: PDF	Width: 8887.0thou
Style: Artwork	Height: 8512.0thou
	Position: X,Y
Scale: [1.000 Mirrored: ☑ Rotated: □ 0	Shift X: 0.0 Shift Y: -5000.0
—Plotting Area Width: 8887.0thou Height: 8512.0thou	Registration Point: Auto Shift

The **Shift X** & **Shift Y** values can be defined positively or negatively, depending on how you require the plot to be shifted on the bed relative to the original plot.

Splitter Control in CAM Plot Preview

The **Plot Preview** page now has a splitter bar. This means the Preview window can be resized to your requirements. It also makes the information page resizable to enable you to see more information.

VI FIOIS	FIOL Setting	us Drill Sizes Thou	icition .		
utputs	To Be Gener	ated		Preview Design	Position of plot/output on paper/tab
Fits	Enabled	Plot Name	Process	K	
Yes		Top Electrical	Layer Top		
Yes		Bottom Electrical	Layer Silkscreen Bottom		
Yes		Top Silk Screen	Layer Silkscreen Top		
Yes		Bottom Silk Screen	Layer Silkscreen Bottom		
Yes		<through hole=""></through>	Layer Span <through hole=""></through>		
Yes		Top All	Layer Top		
			Layer Silkscreen Top		
Yes	\checkmark	Ex	Layer Documentation		REGISTS
Yes		Brd	Layer Documentation		
			└	(+→)	
			\downarrow \checkmark		
					·
					· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
ot:	Top Electric	al Fits:	Yes		HIMME -
	Cata	M/idth	7 7210	O	
10	Lemer	VVICILI	. //.317-		

Gerber Plot File Extensions

You can now define the file extension explicitly for a Gerber plot. you can explicitly

For a **Gerber** plot, you can now specify an explicit file extension. This will override the default file extension for this plot only. Leave this field blank if you want to use the default extension for this type of output. This is available from within the **CAM Plot** option, and **Plot Wizard**, **Process** page,

Na <u>m</u> e:	Top Layer
<u>P</u> lot Group: Plot String:	<u> </u>
<u>O</u> utput To:	Gerber 🗸
File Extension:	.gbr

PDF Plot - Zoom on a Clickable Link

In the **CAM Plot** dialog, on the **Plot Settings**, within the **PDF Setup** dialog, there is now an option **Zoom On Clickable Link** which if disabled will prevent the PDF viewer from zooming into the target of a clickable PDF link and instead just do the pan (centre view). An example of a clickable link is the **Push into Block** annotation link.

	Options
	Colour Style: Colour
	Combine Plots: All
	Drilled Out Pad Line Width: 0 = Default
	Background is White
	✓ <u>View</u> PDF after Generation
	⊡ <u>E</u> mbed Fonts in PDF file
	Bookmarks
	Component Details
	Block Details
	Symbol Details
	✓ Push Into Block
	☑ Link Net Names
/	Plot and Combine Schematic and PCB
_)	Zoom On Clickable Link
V	

PDF Plot - Customise Drilled-Out Pad Line Width

You can now change the stroke width (line width) of drill holes that do not have their pads drawn.

Previously, drilled-out pads were drawn with single-pixel line which can be very difficult to see on the PDF printout.

You can now do this by using the **PDF Setup** dialog and changing the value of the option **Drilled-Out Pad Line Width**. You can have an integer value in the range of 0 and 10, where zero is the default value. The higher the value the thicker the stroke.

	Print Margin Print Across Multiple Pages 0.000 Overlap: 0.000
	Options
	Colour Style: Colour
<u> </u>	Combine Plots: All
	Drilled Out Pad Line Width: 0 💌 0 = Default
/	Background is White
	✓ <u>V</u> iew PDF after Generation
	✓ Embed Fonts in PDF file

DXF Output – Save settings

DXF Output now saves all of the selected settings and layers to the registry for Schematic and PCB designs. This means that in addition to saving the settings to the registry when outputting a DXF file via the **Output** menu, the settings can also be saved to the design through the **CAM Plot** mechanism where the plot will keep track of the output settings.

DXF Settings in Configuration Files

The **DXF** setting will get saved to the Registry which means it can be transported to another machine when saving a **Configuration File**. Note, these settings are no saved to the Technology but are saved into the **CAM Plot** settings when used, which are therefore saved into the design and Technology file.

GenCAD Output

Multi-Threading use for Processing GenCAD Files

You can now use multiple threads when outputting **GenCAD** files using either the **Output** menu or the **CAM Plots** dialog. The vast majority of time spent is in calculating complicated copper shapes and so each copper item is calculated in a separate thread. On average, this process is now 66.6% faster, with ~76% being the upper end of the speed increase seen.

GenCAD Settings Saved

GenCAD plots now support the ability to save the Layers and/or Layer Class Names that are selected.

In the **CAM Plot** dialog, the GenCAD settings are now saved with the plot setting and hence with the design and Technology.

The **GenCAD** setting will get saved to the Registry which means it can be transported to another machine when saving a **Configuration File**. Note, these settings are no saved to the Technology but are saved into the **CAM Plot** settings when used, which are therefore saved into the design and Technology file.

GenCAD Dialog Rearranged

The **GenCAD** dialog has been rearranged slightly to more logically group function buttons and for new options.

Output GenCAD		×
Output File Name Jsers Documents Pulsonix 12.5 Examples Announcer.cad Always overwrite existing output files Settings Identify Educials by Attribute: Use Attribute In Place of Partname: Include Documentation Symbols Include Component Attributes Include Component Mounting Holes Include Board Mounting Holes Connect Pins to Dummy Nets (VIVA)	Layers Choose by Layer Name Choose by Layer Class Silkscreen Top Top Solder Mask Top Paste Mask Top Pin Names Ground Power Bottom Silkscreen Bottom All None	OK Cancel Help
Units Use Inese Units: mm Precision: 3 Use Design Units Use Design Coordinate Origin for all coordinates	Variant © Use Current Variant O Use This Variant: V	

Select Output by Layer or Layer Class

There are two radio buttons and a check list box on the **GenCAD Output** dialog allowing you to selectively output data by layer or layer class.

This is to help suppress the output of items like drawing outlines outside the board. This layer only applies to shape-based items including doc shapes, copper and tracks, it will not do things like suppress layers within pad stacks.

When switching between **Layer Name** and **Layer Class** using the radio buttons, the check box updates with the relevant information.

Layers	
Choose by Layer Name	
O Choose by Layer Class	
Silkscreen Top	^
🗹 Тор	
Solder Mask Top	
Paste Mask Top	
Pin Names	
Ground	
Power	
Bottom	
Silkscreen Bottom	*

Output Board Level Mounting Holes Class

Two new check boxes allow you to output board (design level) **Component** (footprint) **Mounting Holes**, **Board Mounting Holes**, or both (by selecting both check boxes).

Output GenCAD
Output File Name
Jsers\Pocuments\Pulsonix12.5\Examples\Announcer.cad
Always overwrite existing output files
Settings
✓ Identify <u>F</u> iducials by Attribute:
Use Attribute In Place of Partname:
Include Documentation Symbols
Include Component Attributes
Include Component Mounting Holes
Include Board Mounting Holes
Connect Pins to Dummy Nets (VIVA)

Output Current (or Named) Variant

There are now options to only output the Current (or named) Variant.

Silkscreen Bottom	~
All None	
/ariant	
Use Current Variant	
🔾 Use This Variant:	
	~

Panel Editor

Interaction Options

In the **Options** dialog, **Interaction** and **Panel Interaction**, the **Create Tab-Rout Around PCB Avoids Existing Tab-Routs** option had been split into two options.

Avoid Existing Tab-Routs, this will back off the tab rout so it doesn't cover an existing tab-rout.

Back Off by Tab Width, this will back off by the tab width set in the Panel Tab-Rout defaults and add mouse bites if they're enabled.

With both options off the tab-rout will rout over the existing tab.

☐ Gear On Edit ☐ Repour Affected Templates ☑ Optimise On Clear	ר טוגטואט איז איזע איזעט א ריאט איזעט איזע ריאט איזעט איזע	
STEP 3D View	Avoid Existing Tab-Routs	

Apply Tab-Rout to All Instances

When you have a PCB instance selected in the Panel Editor, there is a new **Apply Tab-Rout to All Instances** option available on context menu. This will take the existing tab-rout pattern and copy it to all similar PCB instances in the panel.



Double Row Mouse Bites

You can now add a 'double' row of mouse bites when creating tab routs.

There is a new **Double Row** setting in the **Technology** dialog, **Design Settings**, **Defaults** and **Panel Tab-Rout**. This will force a double row mouse bites when you add a breakout tab.

	Pad Style:	Round 1.5mm	\sim
	Multiple Drill H	oles (Mouse Bite)	
	Pad Style:	Round 0.5mm	\sim
ĸ	Holes Count:	5 Hole Offset: 0.250000	
	Double R	ow Hole To Hole Gap: 1.000000	
		Hole Centre to Centre Gap: 1.500000	
в	DARD	Hole Offset	
P/	NEL		
	Hol	e to Hole Gap	

Doubles row mouse bites will be automatically added when you have two PCB instances adjacent to a tab-rout.

Hole Centre to Centre Gap

There is also a new non-editable entry displaying the **Hole Centre to Centre Gap**. This is a calculated value using the **Pad Style Drill Diameter** plus **Hole To Hole Gap** value. This is for information only and helps you assess the drill hole distance.

rau style. Induna i Jinin	Ý	
Multiple Drill Holes (Mouse Bite)		
Pad Style: Round 0.5mm	~	
Holes Count: 5 Hole Offset:	0.250000	
Double Row Hole To Hole Gap:	1.000000	1
Hole Centre to Centre Gap:	1.500000] (🗍

Intelligent Gerber Import – New Data Type - Placement CSV

Within the **Intelligent Gerber Import** option, **Pick and Place CSV** data can now be used as an alternative to **BOM** data for adding components to the design. This data type has the added benefit over importing a BOM in that it can also intelligently weld them into place the components into the design based on their placement positional data.

This feature will take components from the library using library items already created. The library (the footprint specifically) must be orientated to match the original orientation in the Placement file, which in turn, represents the same orientation in the design. That means, if the original design had the footprint created vertically, then the new Pulsonix must also have the footprint created in this orientation. If not, the placement file will orientate/rotate the new component/footprint 90 degrees out of position.

The Part name used in the Pulsonix library must match the Placement file Part name used.

During import, it will attempt to line up Components with the other imported Gerber data, such as pads. Once aligned, it will weld the components into position and delete the original pads underneath.

CSV File Settings	×
Pick & Place Edited.csv Ref,Part,X,Y,Side,Rotation C1,"C-1206-25V,10u","48,612","79,430",Yes,0	OK Cancel
Data type: O Bill of Materials Pick and Place Field Separator: First Line is a Header Placement Origin: Centre	Units O Imperial: thou > Metric: mm >
Part Name: Ref Name: Rotation:	☐ Mirrored: ☐ Coord: 2

Once placed and aligned, the components are then welded into place and replace the associated pads underneath the component.

Generate Component Dialog improvements

Using the interactive **Generate Component** option from a selected component in the PCB design, the dialog had been reorganised to make it more logical to use.

Generate Compone	ent	×
Number of Pads:	1	
	Find in Library	
<u>P</u> art:	~	
Description:		
<u>F</u> ootprint:	C0603 ~	
Ref <u>N</u> ame:	C22 ~	
Position:	3477.9- 3888.8-	
Rotation:	0.0	
Mirrored:		
Remove proba	ble text shapes	
Save Compone	ent To Library	

A check box has been added **Save Component To Library** which will show the **Save To Library** dialog after the Generate Component dialog closes.

You can now also edit the values in any of the fields in the dialog to change what the values will be in the generated component. If you choose a ref name which is a component in the bin it will replace that component with the generated component.

PDC Database Bar – Splitter Controls Added

Splitter controls have now been added to the **Database** bar to adjust the sizes of the search, results and preview sections.

When docked on the left or right the sections will be arranged vertically, and when docked on the top or bottom the sections will be arranged horizontally to make the best use of available space. These sizes are stored in the registry on program close allowing section sizes to be remembered between sessions.

Splitters are available on the side of the **Preview** window and above the **Results** window:

	Database					>
	- Settings:	Auto Save Dopen.	Save As Re	set Synchronise		
	Look In: Resistor	V Found 48	items Sear	ch () and	R1	R1
N		verator Value	Value2	Add		00
\neg		1578		De	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.0	
/∧				Clear	400 thou	300.0 thou
\square	Add to Design Add to Bin	Update Set	tup Fit Cols	Help	Next Symbol	Next Footprint
L/	PARTNAME	PART_NUMBER	VALUE TOLERANC	E POWER VOLTAGE	MFR CATEGORY	^
V	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.0	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.0	1.0 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.0K	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.0K	1.0K 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1M	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1M	1M 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.2	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.2	1.2 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.2K	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.2K	1.2K 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.5	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.5	1.5 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	
	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.5K	R 0.125W 5% MCF 1.5K	1.5K 5%	0.125W	Resistor/Carbon Film	

-P Settings:			Auto Sav	e Open Si	ave As Reset
Look In: Resistor	~ F	ound 48 items	Search		
Field	Operator Valu	e Value2			
TOLERANC	CE = 5%		-		
Add to Design Add	Id to Bin Update	Setup	Fit Cols	Help	<u> </u>
PARTNAM	IE PART_NUME	BER VALUE T	OLERANCE POWER	VOLTAGE MFR	CATEGORY
R 0.125W 5% MC	CF 1.0 R 0.125W 5% MC	F 1.0 1.0 5	6 0.125W		Resistor/Carbon Film
R 0.125W 5% MC	CF 1.0K R 0.125W 5% MC	F 1.0K 1.0K 5	% 0.125W		Resistor/Carbon Film
P 0 125W 5% MC	CF 1 2 D 0 125W 5% MC	F12 12 5	0.125W		Resistor/Carbon Film
P 0 125W 5% MC	CF 1 2K D 0 125W 5% MC	F 1 2K 1 2K 5	0.125W		Resistor/Carbon Film
P 0 125W 5% MC	CF 1.5 R 0.125W 5% MC	F15 15 5	6 125W		Resistor/Carbon Film
R 0.125W 5% MC	CF 1.5K R 0.125W 5% MC	F15K 15K 5	6 0.125W	I	Resistor/Carbon Film
D 0 1251/ 5% MC	CF 1.8 D 0 125W 5% MC	F18 18 5	0 1251/		Desistor/Carbon Film
H Record 1	► H <				
×	R1	×	0 -	R	

When the dialog is resized sufficiently at the right edge, the Preview window will drop to the bottom of the dialog. From here, splitters allow the Results and Preview windows to be resized.

Variants

Doc Shapes

You can now have **Variant Doc Shapes**. A doc shape is added to the design and then using **Properties** of the shape, you can define which **Variant** the shape is fitted in.

This is a PCB only feature and is not available in Schematics.

Prope	rties: Do	c Sh	ape – V	ariants		—	×
Segment	Shape	Line	e Style	Variants	Doc Shape Attribute	s	
Variar	nt Pres	ent	Varia	nt Descri	ption		
USA	V	1					
CD		1					

Multiple Select Fitted/Not Fitted Components

You can Fit (or Unfit) multiple components in one hit using the **Component Variant Spreadsheet** from the **Edit** menu.

You can do this by using the Ctrl and Shift keys to select the required components in the spreadsheet list.

Once selected, the **Variant Details** pane changes to a simplified version that only allows the fitted status to be changed.

Name	USA	GB*	
C1	С	С	
C2	С	c	
C3	С	С	
C4	С	С	
C5	С	С	
C6	С	C	
C7	C	C	
C8	С	С	
C9	С	С	
C10	С	С	
C11	С	С	
C12	С	С	
C13	CP	CP	
C14	C_Height	C_Height	
C16	С	С	
D1			
D2	D	D	
D3	D	D	
D4	D	D	
D5	D	D	
D6	D	D	
D7	D	D	
D8	D	D	

Once your changes have been made, either select **Update Spreadsheet** or **Discard Changes** to make the changes permanent or to discard them.

This was backfitted to V12.5.9451

Vault Changes

Underlying Vault Technology Changes

For the Version 12.5 release, there have been underlying changes and updates to the following core technologies:

ODBC Driver V13.0

PostgreSQL server V14.5

Pulsonix Vault database V12.5

In order to successfully run the Pulsonix V12.5 Vault, all three technologies should be updated.

Updated ODBC Driver

The V13.0 ODBC driver will be automatically installed during the main Pulsonix product installation. The driver is required on the Pulsonix client side. This new driver is required in order to support the Postgres server V14.5.

If, for some reason, the automatic install has not been successful, the driver installer will be available in the Vault Admin install folder, normally at "C:\Program Files\Pulsonix Vault Admin 12.5". The file is named **psqlodbc_x64.msi** and should be run under your system administration permissions.

Updated Vault Setup ODBC Drivers

If you run the V12.5 Vault and the old ODBC driver is used (if you have used a previous copy of the Vault), this can be changed from with the **Vault Setup** dialog.

From the **Vault Setup** dialog, **Sign In** page, alter the ODBC driver used to connect to the **Vault Database** using the **Change** button. You should now be using the V13.0 x64 driver for V12.5.

Sign In Users	Groups Revision Naming Attributes Options Colours Version	
	Primary Sign-in O Alternate Sign-in	
User Name:	Admin]
Password:	••••••	Show
ODBC Driver:	PostgreSQL ANSI(x64)	Change
Server Name:	localhost	
Server Port:	5432	
	Test	
Data Folder:		Login Status:
Vault ID:		Signed Out
		Sign Out

The **Change** button will open the **Change ODBC** driver dialog. From here you can select a Postgres ODBC driver from a list of currently installed drivers on your computer. Otherwise, you can press the 'Default' button to select the default Vault ODBC driver. Also, when testing a connection, Pulsonix will attempt to use the driver you've specified, if it fails, it will automatically attempt to find and use an alternative driver. If one is found, you will be prompted that their selection does not work but this found working driver will be used.

Checking the ODBC Drivers

You can also check the status of the ODBC drivers using the Windows ODBC Driver dialog.

To access this, from the **Windows Start** menu, type in **ODBC**. Select the **ODBC Data Sources (64-bit)** application:



From the dialog presented, choose the **Drivers** page. You will see the **PostgreSQL ANSI(x64)** driver listed.

	Mania	C	~
Name	version	Company	Î
Microsoft Access dBASE Driver (*.dbf, *.ndx, *.mdx) 14.00.7010.1000	Microsoft Corporation	
Microsoft Access Driver (*.mdb, *.accdb)	14.00.7010.1000	Microsoft Corporation	
Microsoft Access Text Driver (*.txt, *.csv)	14.00.7010.1000	Microsoft Corporation	
Microsoft Excel Driver (*.xls, *.xlsx, *.xlsm, *.xlsb)	14.00.7010.1000	Microsoft Corporation	
PostgreSQL ANSI	13.02.00.00	PostgreSQL Global Development Gro	
PostgreSQL ANSI(x64)	13.02.00.00	PostgreSQL Global Development Gro	
PostgreSQL Unicode	13.02.00.00	PostgreSQL Global Development Gro	
PostgreSQL Unicode(x64)	13.02.00.00	PostgreSQL Global Development Gro	
SQL Server	10.00.19041.2604	Microsoft Corporation	۷
<		>	

If, for some reason, this hasn't worked or been successful, the driver installer will be available in the Vault Admin setup. You can locate this under the

C:\Program Files\Pulsonix Vault Admin 12.5 folder. The file is named **psqlodbc_x64.msi** and should be run under your system administration permissions.

Updated Vault Postgres Server to V14.5

The Pulsonix Vault now uses Postgres server version 14.5. The supplied Pulsonix Vault Server Setup for V12.5 has been updated to reflect this change and will now install a 64-bit V14.5 Postgres server.

This new program will be installed when you run the **Vault Server Setup** program supplied for Pulsonix V12.5.

Existing Pulsonix12.0 Vault Users

Pulsonix12.0 users that have already been using the Vault with PostgreSQL V9.5 (x86) should still run the Pulsonix12.5 **Vault Server Setup** program to install the 64-bit V14.5 Postgres server alongside the V9.5 version. Prior to doing this, the Pulsonix 12.0 **Vault Admin** program should be run, as described below in the "*Vault Database Update - Backup your existing Database*" section, to create a backup of the Pulsonix 12.0 Vault.

During the **PostgreSQL Setup**, started by **Vault Server Setup**, the Port number to be used for PostgreSQL V14.5 will be automatically incremented from the one used for the previous PostgreSQL V9.5 (e.g. 5432 to 5433). This different Port number will allow Pulsonix to distinguish between the two versions of PostgreSQL.

If so desired, the old PostgreSQL V9.5 (x86) may be removed once the new PostgreSQL V14.5 is successfully set up and running the Pulsonix12.5 Vault. Please note that this new incremented port number will now be the permanent Postgres port in use by the Vault.

The **Vault Server Setup** step 2. **Create Vault Database** should be performed to create the Pulsonix environment in the new PostgreSQL V14.5 server remembering to set the Port number to the incremented V14.5 value. The new empty Vault database created now needs to be replaced with the Pulsonix 12.0 backup by running the **Vault Admin** program installed with Pulsonix12.5. This is described below in the "*Vault Database Update – Restoring the Database*" section.

Pulsonix12.5 should now be launched and the **Vault Setup** dialog opened. On the **Sign In** page the **Server Port** should be changed to the incremented V14.5 value and the **Test** button clicked. If successful, the **Ok** button should be clicked to save the modified Port number.

The "Vault Database Update" procedure described below should now be performed.

Vault Database Update

An updated Vault is used for Pulsonix V12.5 to support the new functionality.

For new users to the Vault, all the latest V12.5 Vault features and permissions will be included in the newly installed Vault database.

Existing Pulsonix12.0 Vault users need to update your Vault database version to support Pulsonix12.5 functionality, by following the steps below.

Backup your existing Database

You should first run the **Backup** tool in the existing **Vault Admin** program supplied with Pulsonix V12.0.

Use the Vault Admin Backup tool to do this:

🔒 Pulsonix Vault	Admin	×
Backup Restore	Settings	
Backup File:	C:\Users\Documents\Pulsonix\Vault Backup\PulsonixVaultBackup.vbk	<u>B</u> rowse
Notes:	Final Vault Backup for transfer	
	Create Backup Create a backup of the entire Vault contents	
Progress:		
Details:		

Updating the Database

Using the **Vault Server Setup**, you should have previously installed the **Postgres** server (using Step 1. on the dialog) so that Version 14.x is available.

During the **Vault Server Setup**, you should have previously installed and created a new Vault database (using Step 2.). Existing Pulsonix12.0 Vault users should have previously transferred the Vault database to PostgreSQL V14.x.

The main Pulsonix V12.5 should have been installed on the client machine. This will have also updated the ODBC driver to V13.0.

For existing Vault 12.0 users, you will need to follow the steps described in the "Vault Database Update – Admin Permissions" section and the "Vault Database Update – Updating the Version" section.

Restoring the Database

When the Pulsonix12.5 **Vault Admin** program is first run it will still show the **Settings** from Pulsonix12.0. These will need to be changed so the backup is restored for Pulsonix12.5 instead of Pulsonix12.0. The Port number will need to be changed to the incremented V14.5 value mentioned earlier, and the Postgres Folder will need modifying to use the newly installed 64-bit PostgreSQL V14.5, normally, from "C:\Program Files (x86)\PostgreSQL\9.5\bin" to "C:\Program Files\PostgreSQL\14\bin". On the **Vault Admin - Restore** tab, the Pulsonix12.0 backup should then be loaded and the **Restore existing** option used to restore the Vault database into PostgreSQL V14.5 ready to be used in Pulsonix12.5.

	Settings			
Backup File:	C:\Users\Max\Desktop\v	ault.vbk		Browse
Backup Details		_		7
Vault ID:	131208237909420000	From Server:	localhost	
Backup Date:		By User:	Max	
File Size:	54.29 MB	On Computer:	TUVALU	
Notes:	Backing Up			
Data File Folder:	D:\Data\Vault			<u>B</u> rowse
Data File Folder:	D:\Data\Vault Restore existing	Restore backup file	to re-create an existing Vault	Browse
Data File Folder:	D:\Data\Vault Restore existing Restore new Vault	Restore backup file	to re-create an existing Vault to create a new Vault	Browse
Data File Folder: Progress:	D:\Data\Vault Restore existing Restore new Vault	Restore backup file	to re-create an existing Vault to create a new Vault	Browse

Admin Permissions

To update the Vault version, the person who is administering the update must have **Database Maintenance** permissions.

From within the main Pulsonix application, on **Vault Setup**, the **Admin** permission under **Groups** must have **Database Maintenance** permissions set.

If you are not updating from an existing Vault, the **Admin** group will already contain the required **Database Maintenance** permission. Otherwise, you will need to create a new group and user, or using an existing **non-admin** group and user, update the permissions of that group to contain **Database Maintenance**. Once the update has been complete, the existing **Admin** group will be automatically updated with the **Database Maintenance** permission.



Permissions:	Search Vault	~	
	Change Permissions		
	View Attribute Definitions		
	Alter Attribute Definitions		
	View Revision Formats		L
	Alter Revision Formats		
	View Users and Groups		
	Alter Users and Groups		
	View Vault Item Locations		
	Alter Vault Item Locations		
	View Audit Trail		
	Read Global Settings		
1	Change Global Settings		
	Uncheck files checked out by other users		
	☑ Database Maintenance	~	
		*	
V			

Updating the Version

When logged in as a user with the **Database Maintenance** permission, you will now see the **Versions** tab in the **Vault Setup** dialog.

When a Vault format update is available, the **Update** button will be enabled. You will also get the update notification every time you launch the **Vault Manager** dialog. This notification can be turned off in the **Warnings** page within **Options** under **Prompt Vault Database Updates**.

Current Version:	1005	Update Database
Latest Version:	1006	
Postgres Version:	PostgreSQL 14.5	

Again, before updating, we highly recommend that you perform a full Vault backup from the **Vault Admin** application. When ready, you can proceed by clicking on the **Update** button which will handle the updating process.

Confirmation will be shown that this has been successful. The updated Vault is now ready to use.

Vault Column Sorting

While using grids within the Vault, you can now sort the columns by right clicking on the columns name to sort and selecting **Sort Column Ascending** or **Sort Column Descending** from the list.

Item Deta	ails: F	lefers To	~	Revision:	<latest f<="" th=""><th>evision:</th><th>></th><th></th><th>\sim</th></latest>	evision:	>		\sim
Item ID		Туре	Folder				Name	Revision	Timestam
105	1	PCB Footprint	\Librar	Sort Column Ase	ending	N)2x1.25	1.0	21-07-2017
115	8	Schematic Symbol	\Librar	Sort Column De	scending	К	þ	1.0	21-07-2017

The sorted column(s) will be highlighted using a small up or down arrow:

	ltem Details:	Audit Trail			\sim	Rev
	Ite 🔻	Туре	Action	. 🔺	Timestamp	Rev
7						

If more than one column is sorted, the priority will be from the left side move across the columns to the right. In the example above, *Items* first then *Actions*.

Once columns have been sorted, right clicking again displays an addition command to **Clear All Column Sorting**. This restores the columns to their original settings.

Item Details: Audit Trail	~	Revision:		~
Ite 🔻 Type	Action 🔺 Timestamp	Revision	Clear All Column Sorting	

Sign Out from Vault

In the Vault Setup dialog, there is a new Sign Out button within the Sign In page.

When you press **Sign Out**, your primary and secondary login details will be erased and you will be disconnected from the Vault. In order to continue to use Vault features, you will need to sign back in again.

gn In Revision	Naming Attributes Options Colours	
	Primary Sign-in) Alternate Sign-in
User Name:	bob	
Password:	••••••	Show
ODBC Driver:	PostgreSQL ANSI(x64)	Change
Server Name:	atlas	
Server Port:	5432	
	Test	
Data Folder:		Login Status:
Vault ID:		Signed In
		Sign Out

Changing Vault Column Order

While using grids within the Vault, you can now move and reorder the columns by selecting the cell name and dragging it into the required position.

During the move, the new position will be highlighted with two small red markers:

Item Details	s: Aud	lit Trail		\sim	Revision:		
Item ID		Туре	Action Date	Revision Times mp	Revision	Action Type	Not
			-	•			

If you wish to reset the columns to their original location, right click on the column header and select **Reset Column Order** from the menu:



Splitter Controls in Browser Window

Splitter controls have now been added to the **Browser** page in **Vault Manager** to adjust the sizes of the items grid, details grid, design previews and attributes list. These are indicated when you hover your cursor over the double 'splitter' lines. These sizes are saved to the registry when the page is closed and loaded when it is opened.



'Generic' Files with Vault

You can now check in and out 'generic' files with the Vault. The files can be of any non-Pulsonix data type such as PDF, Gerber, NC Drill, BOMS, Excel/Word documents etc.

Using the new **Generic Files to Vault** page in the **Vault Manager** dialog, you are able to browse for file(s) and check them in. Whilst adding files, you will be prompt to associate the file(s) with an existing vault design. As these files are a non-Pulsonix type, each file must have a unique name (no

duplicates allowed). However, you can over come this by associated the file to an existing design whereby the name of the file will be unique to that design (you can have multiple files of the same name as long as they are associated with different designs).

	— 🗆 X
ult Libraries Export Vault Libraries	
Design Path Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU	Same Design Add Files Remove Selected Remove All
Settings Constraints of the set	:vision
F	ault Libraries Export Vault Libraries Design Path Vault:\Design Content\Lab PSU\Lab PSU Vault:\Design Content Vault:\Design Content Vault Perform Vault Perform Vault:\Design Content

There is an additional tab on the dialog for Generic Files to Vault:

Transfer Library Data to Vault – New Data Types

You can now transfer **3D Packages** and **STEP Models** as well as existing library types:

Transfer To Vault		
Library Data to Transfer:	Step Models	Files Chosen: 0
Check	All Library Types Footprints Packages Parts PCB Doc Symbols Schematic Doc Symbols	
	Schematic Symbols Step Models	

Find Components by Footprint or Symbol in Vault Speed-up

In the main **Pulsonix Library Manager** on the **Parts** page containing libraries from the **Vault**, if you use the **Find** option and search for all Parts containing a footprint and/or a symbol name matching a specified string, a significant speed-up has been implemented. This new speed-up turns previous search times of an average 2 mins (one reported as 30mins) to mere 1 second.

Note that this speedup is only relevant if you have a Vault that has **cross-referencing** enabled in the **Vault Setup Options** page.

Show Attributes from Vault Browser

From the **Vault Browser** dialog, there is a new context menu option (when you right click on a selection of parts or footprints from the items grid) called **Show Attributes**.

Vault Item	is: 123	5							
Item ID		Туре	Folder			Name	Revis	sion	
40391		Part	\Library C	Content\Parts\CoilC	raft	1008CS-100XGLC	1.0		
40392		Part	\Library C	Content\Parts\Coil0	raft	1008CS-100XJLC	1.0		
40393		Part	\Libr	Maria Calasta					
40394	an	Part	\Libr	Nove Selected	item	1			
40395		Part	\Libr	Delete Selecte	d Iten	n		П	
40396	80	Part	\Libr	Check Out Sel	ected	ltem		п	
40397		Part	\Libr	Copy Out Sele	cted	ltem		П	
40398		Part	\Libr	Show Attribut	es	Ν			
				Update Refere	nces	to Selected Item			
ltem Detai	ls: Aud	lit Trail	_	~	- 11	CVISION NEW	1910112		
Item ID		Туре	Action [)ate	Tim	estamp	Rev	ision	Action Type
40393	80	Part	22-12-20	22 12:53:22.175	22-1	2-2022 12:53:22.175	1.0		Added (with autom
40393		Part	22-12-20	22 12:53:22.075	22-1	2-2022 12:53:22.175	1.0		Moved

When selected, this will open the **Attribute Editor** dialog (in **read-only** mode) which allows you to view the attributes of the selected items. This works the same method as the **Attributes** button from the main **Library Manager** on the **Parts** or **Footprints** page.

Filter Capability Added to the Check Out from Vault Dialog

The **Check Out** from Vault dialog (access via **Check Out** or **Copy Out** command in Vault toolbar) now allows you to **Filter** the names of items within the vault using names ad wildcards.

	Check Out from Vault		×
	Vault Contents: Vault Contents: Vault Contents: Vault Contents: Cherry Content Cherry Cherry Cherry Cherry Cherry Cherry Cherry Cherry C	Add >> \\Library Content\Parts\3m\2514-6002 Remove \Library Content\Parts\3m\2514-6002 Revision:	
L		OK Cance	el

Execute Attribute Hyperlink

You can now execute hyperlinks from the Attribute list in the Vault Browser dialog.

To do this, select a Part or Symbol in the Vault Browser dialog, if the item has attributes, the attributes list (bottom right) will fill. If you double-click an attribute defined as a hyperlink (marked in blue), it will open the hyperlink. Alternatively, if you select the attribute and right-click anywhere within the attributes list, it will give you a context menu with the command **Execute Hyperlink** which will open it as well.

udit Trail	~ Ret	vision: <late< th=""><th>est Revision></th><th>\sim</th><th></th></late<>	est Revision>	\sim	
)ate	Timestamp	Revision	Action Type	Notes	Use
22 12:53:22.075	22-12-2022 12:53:22.075	1.0	Moved	\Library Content\Parts\CoilCraft	blayr
22 12:53:22.075	22-12-2022 12:53:22.075	1.0	Added (wit	Adding Existing Libraries to th	blayr
(GLC'	L2520		<component <hyperlink> = <part family=""> Category=Ind DCRmax = 0.0</part></hyperlink></component 	Height>=2.03mm = <u>www.colicraft.com</u> = 1008CS-/1008CS-100 uctor/Coilcraft 1008CS 8	>
~			Description=C Freq=50MHz Irms=1000mA L=10nH	oilcraft Chip Inductor 1008CS S	eri
5.000	mm		MIT=CONCraft		

Check-Out / Copy-Out Vault item using the Vault Toolbar Preselects The Item

With a Design, Symbol or Part editor open, using the **Check Out** or **Copy Out** commands from the Vault toolbar, will now open the **Check Out / Copy Out** dialog and preselect the currently opened Design, Symbol or Part if it is present in the Vault. The open item has to have been checked into the Vault previously and have a Vault ID.

Check Out from Vault	
Vault Contents:	Items
□ 🔄 Vault □ 🖕 Design Content	Add >>
cutshape test.pcb	Remove
e- 🔄 Voltmeter-Ammeter	

Import Libraries to Vault

The existing **Export Vault Libraries** feature allows Pulsonix library items to be **exported** from the Vault, usually, to facilitate improved performance when working remotely. The new **Import Vault Libraries** feature allows modifications made to those library items while held in an exported local library to be re-introduced (**imported**) to the Vault in a single operation rather than individually checking in each changed item (both Import and Export are licensed options and will usually be paired).

A new Import Vault Libraries page has been added to the Vault Manager dialog.

📧 Vault Manager – Import Vault Libraries				- 0	×
Browser Libraries to Vault Designs to Vault Generic Files to Vault Audit Tr	il Import Vault Libraries	Export Vault Libraries	8		
Import From: Root Folder: C:\Documents\Pulsonix\VaultExport C:\Users\Documents\Pulsonix\VaultExport\Ubrary Content\Footprin C:\Users\Documents\Pulsonix\VaultExport\Ubrary Content\Parts\Ha C:\Users\Documents\Pulsonix\VaultExport\Ubrary Content\Parts\Ha C:\Users\Documents\Pulsonix\VaultE	ts/LLP.pf/ ts/PGA.pf/ ts/QFN.pf/ ts/QFN.pf/ ts/QFP.pf/ ts/SIM.nf/ ts/SIM.pf/ ts/SID.pf/ ts/SID.pf/ ts/SID.cff/ mlin.pal dware.pal ece.pal e.pal			Browse Remove	- All
				Count: 14	
Import To: Library Data to Transfer: All Library Types Count: 0 New Library Destination in Vault Vault Folder: Library Content Browse Additional Folder Names: Library Type then Name Default	Settings	ies /ault lfied (or New) Items	Check	k Import No	W
				Close H	elp

Special Note

Note: Not importing a full set of changes may mean reloads later. Any modified library items, referencing or referenced by other library items e.g. Footprint or Symbols, not imported at the same time will have to subsequently reload those referenced items before they will be able to be checked into the Vault.

Using this dialog

From this page, you can browse to the directory that you exported you Vault libraries to, and reintroduce them back into the Vault.

This mechanism will go through the given directory and import any library items that have been changed locally, when compared to the Vault version. Additionally, with the correct settings enabled, it can also add any new library items that were created locally. You can also check to see what changes will be made and any potential errors found by pressing the **Check** button.

PLM Command File Interface for the new Import Vault Libraries option

There is a new command available in the PLM interface to the Command File Interface called **VaultImport**. This enables the new function in the **Vault**, (**Import Vault Libraries**), to be performed through a command line interface.

Optional parameters allows for the override of the options specified from within Pulsonix. By running Pulsonix from the command line with a Pulsonix Command File as a parameter, the Vault Library Import facility can be utilised from the Windows Scheduler to create a regular reoccurring task. The full recommended command line is shown below:

Pulsonix.exe -hidden -commandfile <path to command file>

The PLM interface is only available if you have purchased the PLM option.

Vault Attribute Colours

From the **Vault Setup** dialog under the **Colours** page, there is a new section of controls, that allows you to create **Attribute Colour Rules**.

			Part		\sim	New
Attribute Name	Attribute Value	Text	Background	Example		Delete
Status	Obsolete			Example		
Status	In Use			Example		Default Colours

These rules are created by first selecting a Pulsonix data type from the drop down (*Part* in the above example), then selecting an attribute from the in-cell combo box (the attribute must first be associated with the Vault and that data type. Do this from the Vault Attributes Page). Then define an attribute value for which you want the colours to be applied when the item attribute value is equal to this value.

Finally, you can then set the **Text** colour and **Background** colour associated with this new rule. The **Example** box displays how the rule will look when satisfied. When applied, these colour rules will be seen in the **Vault Browser** page where items that have attribute values that match the defined rules will have their grid row painted with the colours chosen.

Library ToolKit Changes

The Library Toolkit feature has been updated with the following changes:

Parts Files (.pgf)

Format 4 in PGF files is now the current format to support the following commands:

Several new commands have been added for PGF files:

ADDASSOCPART SCMPART REPLACEFOOTPRINT REPLACESYMBOL

Some commands have been renamed:

Old **NEWPART** command has been changed to **PART** Old **PART** command has been changed to **PCBPART**

The CONNECTOR command has been changed:

ADDGATE will no longer add gates to a part which are created with CONNECTOR enabled.

You should still use the PART command to create connector parts. As this was the previously named NEWPART command so the SCMSYM field must now be empty in order to make the part a Connector. If SCMSYM field is not blank, the part will not be a Connector and will use the given symbol instead.

More information can be found in the Library Toolkit Users Guide on the Pulsonix web site.

Report Maker Changes

Change Command Colour and Font / Size

In Report Maker, you now has the ability to change the **Font** and **Font Size**, and the **Colour** of the text in the **Format Script** section (the report script itself). A new **Options** button is available from the main Report Maker dialog:

	Report Maker		
K	Format: Locked DRC Errors	Description:	
$\Box \rangle$	New Save Save As Options	Available for:	

Johperone			
Font Name: DEFAULT		\sim	
ont Size:			8
Command Colours:			
Command	Colour	Enabled	/
Field Commands			
Attribute Commands			
Conditional Commands			
List Commands			
Else Commands			
Angle Unit Commands			
Coordinate Commands			
coordinate commands			
List Field Commands			

Change Font

You can change the Font using the combo box. The default font used is listed as DEFAULT.

Change **Font Size** using the slider. This will adjust the pixel size. The default is 8. Generally speaking, it is expected that a larger font size will be required due to screen resolution of say, 4K monitors.

Change Command Colours

In Report Maker, you now has the ability to change the text **colour** of commands in the **Format Script** section (the report script itself), use the new **Options** button.



In the grid at the bottom of the dialog, is a list of different command types. For each command type, you can change the **Colour** in which you would like the text to be.

Use the **Enabled** check box on the same row to force this new colour selection. If disabled (unchecked) the default colour will be used.

There are two sets of colours for each command type, one for dark mode and the other for light. These colours can be edited depending on which mode your application is currently set to. For example, you can only change dark mode colours whilst the application is using the dark theme.



New command - Symbol Library Path / Name

In Report Maker, you can now report **Current Library Path** and **Name** when doing **List Of Parts** (uses default footprint), **List Of Part Gates**, **List Of Symbol Names** and **List Of Footprint** Names when running from a Parts Library.



This feature was back-fitted to V12.0

New command - Output to Excel V12.0

A new command has been added to allow the creation of Excel format reports.

The new **Excel** command defines the report to be written in and saved as a native binary .xlsx file, (not CSV format).

Excel
List of Components
List of Pins
if not "Is Land Suppression Allowed"
Component Name
Pin Name
Layer
Position
End Of Line

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

Network License Server Manager

Disconnect All Clients

From the **Disconnect Clients** dialog within the **Network License Server Manager (NLSM)** there is a new button named **Disconnect All**. When selected, it will disconnect all users currently connected. This is a easy alternative to selecting individual users and clicking **Disconnect**.

Disconnect Clients		×
artemis.india.pulsonix.com/rav intrix.main.pulsonix.com/ant tirano.main.pulsonix.com/dennis		
Refresh	Disconnect All Loan Reset Close	

Disconnect All Clients via Configuration File

A new command can be used in the network licensing configuration file - DisconnectAllClients.

When defined with a value between 0 and 2400, the server will automatically disconnect all connected clients at the time defined. For example, adding **DisconnectAllClients 1930** to the configuration file will tell the server to automatically send the disconnect all clients message at 19:30PM. To disable this feature, remove the command from the configuration file or set the time to be 2400.

You can edit the configuration file by opening **NLSM** and going to **Configuration File...** and clicking on the Edit button. If the server is currently running, you will need to press the **Reload** button to ask the server to reload the new changes in the configuration file.

Scripting Changes

Import/Export Library Items

New functions have been added to scripting that allow importing a Part/symbol into a library, and exporting a Part/symbol from a library. The functions added are:

PartLibrary – Import (Write a part to the library using the file path of the part)

SymbolLibrary – Import (Write a symbol to the library using the file path of the symbol).

Part – Export (Export the part to the specified directory).

PulsonixDocument – ExportLibraryItem (Export the library item to the specified directory).

Note: Symbols in a library are currently classed as PulsonixDocument's in scripting, not symbols.

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

New AddFootprintFromLibrary and AddFootprintFromLibrary Methods

New AddGateFromLibrary and AddFootprintFromLibrary methods on a Part object have been added.

Each function is on a Part and it is used to add a Gate or Footprint to the Part from a symbol library. This works in a similar way to how the Insert Gate option works in the Parts editor.

The function tries to find the symbol in the given library and adds it as a gate or footprint to the Part.

It requires the symbol/footprint name and the library name, and if the symbol/footprint is found in the library, it will be added to the Part.

This has been backfitted to 12.0.

Differential Pair Chains and Signal Paths

You can now access Differential Pair Chains and Signal Paths through scripting. The following objects have been added:

DiffPairChain – Represents a diff pair chain and allows access to its name, start pads, end pads, a list of all diff pairs in the chain and the maximum length difference and minimum percent paired rule values.

DiffPairChains – A list of all diff pair chains.

SignalPath – Represents a signal path and allows access to its name, start pad, end pad and a list of all the pads in the signal path.

SignalPaths - A list of all signal paths

The function IsInChain has also been added to a DiffPair object to check whether the diff pair is currently part of a chain.

This feature was back-fitted to V12.0.

Scripting Part for AddGate and Library Close Methods

A new **AddGate** method on a Part object has been added. It requires the path of a Schematic Symbol, and will add that symbol as a Gate for the Part.

Also added is a new **Close** method for **Part** and **Symbol Libraries**. This allows the library to be manually closed (this was needed as opening a library increments the document count, and he needed it closed to decrement the document count).

This has been backfitted to 12.0.

New Script Added - Out_of_data_vault_parts_in_designs.vbs

A new script has been added to the Scripts\Examples folder called **Out_of_data_vault_parts_in_designs.vbs.** When run, the script will search for all PCB or SCM designs within the given directory and sub-directories. For each design that it discovers, it will run the given report on the design (to be used with **Out of Date Vault Items**) report. The results from these reports will be appended to a single file that is created in the same folder as the script. Once finished, this file will contain the list of Parts from all designs that are not the most up to date revision when compared to the currently connected Vault.

There is a section in the **Report Maker - Vault Commands** help page that discusses how to use the script.

Progress Indicator on Taskbar Icon

The current state of any progress bar is now displayed on the taskbar icon for Pulsonix. This means the progress can be seen even when Pulsonix is minimised. This is particularly useful if long longs are being performed, such as a DRC on a very large design.

The Pulsonix icon will show a green slider moving across as the option progresses.



Dynamic Design Verify Improvements

Enable Dynamic Verify

When instructed by your local service office, Dynamic Verify is now performed in a different thread so that it has little to no impact on normal usage of Pulsonix. This means it is much more practical to have all checks enabled so that the design is verified constantly while changes are being made.

This option is enabled from the **File** menu, **Document Properties** and **Statistics** page and using the **Enable Dynamic Verify** button.

Document Properties – Statistics				
Summary Statistics	Password			
Last Saved By:	bob			
Revision number:	196			
Total Editing Time:	6348 min	Reset		
Last Printed:				
Created:	28/02/2014 15:11:19			
Last Saved:	06/12/2022 12:41:55			
Signature:	00000	Update		
Enable Dynamic	:Verify			
	n Save			
Use Dynami	ic Verify Settings			

New options enable **Verify Design on Save**, which when selected, is used for verifying the design whenever a save is performed (note: this is only Save and not on a Save As). On large designs this can significantly slow down saving if verifying takes a while. Use the **Use Dynamic Verify Settings**

switch to only check for the Dynamic Verify faults instead of every fault if you wish. This can help speed it up.

Within the **Enable Dynamic Verify** dialog, there is a button to quickly **Enable All** checks and a button to **Verify** the design with the currently enabled checks. On large designs this can significantly slow down saving if verifying takes a while. There is another switch to only check for the Dynamic Verify faults instead of every fault if you wish; this can speed things.

Design Verify	Х
Design Signature: 00000	
Add Fault Checks: 00000000 00000000 00000000 Add	
Enabled Fault Checks: FFFFFFFF FFFFFFF FFFFFFFF FFFFFFFF FFFFF	All
Verify OK	

When running on larger designs, a progress bar to show how far the verify has progressed is displayed. A message to show the current signature of the design is also displayed.

	Verifying Design	×
	Design Signature: 0 0 0 2 20 0 Warning - Signature error	s found
	Add Fault Checks: 00000000 00000000 00000000 00000002 000000	Add
	Enabled Fault Checks:	iable All Reset
	Duplicate Component Names	
_/	00:00:03 Stop OK	

A report is produced once completed showing you any errors:



A small icon on the right side of the status bar will display the current status of the Dynamic Verify once enabled.

A green tick shows the design is free of signature errors.

ne	Grid: 0.000	Abs	426.259-	327.973-	mm		
----	-------------	-----	----------	----------	----	--	--

A red exclamation mark indicates the presence of errors, and a spinning circle is used when the design is currently being verified in the background.

This icon can also be double-clicked to display the Dynamic Verify Dialog.

Design Verify	×
Design Signature: 000000	
Add Fault Checks: 00000000 00000000 00000000 00000000	Add
Enabled Fault Checks:	Enable All
FFFFFFFF FFFFFFFF FFFFFFFF FFFFFFFFF	Reset

Designs now store their last signature result which can be checked when opening the design and can be used to tell if the signature error has suddenly got worse (or better!)

Memory Dumps

Under certain extreme circumstances, if you encounter the 'Pulsonix has encountered an error' window, this now has an option to save a memory dump of the error to a temporary location on your local machine. The dump file (.dmp) can be sent along with an up-to-date support file (which is generated at the same time in the same folder) to Pulsonix support to help them find the cause of the error and fix it.

Depending on the design size and complexity, this process can take some time to create the dump. This could be in the hours if the design is very large, so be aware. Once complete, a window will appear to tell you where the file was saved to.

This was backfitted to V12.0.